PACES/HRS Expert Consensus Statement on the Management of the Asymptomatic Young Patient with a Wolff-Parkinson-White (WPW, Ventricular Preexcitation) Electrocardiographic Pattern

Developed in partnership between the Pediatric and Congenital Electrophysiology Society (PACES) and the Heart Rhythm Society (HRS). Endorsed by the governing bodies of PACES, HRS, the American College of Cardiology Foundation (ACCF), the American Heart Association (AHA), the American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP), and the Canadian Heart Rhythm Society (CHRS)

WRITING COMMITTEE MEMBERS

Task Force Chair Mitchell I. Cohen, MD, FACC, FHRS¹*[†]

Task Force Vice-Chair John K. Triedman, MD, FACC, FHRS^{2*†}

Writing Committee Members

Bryan C. Cannon, MD, FACC^{3*†} Andrew M. Davis, MBBS, MD, FRACP, FHRS^{4*†} Fabrizio Drago, MD⁵* Jan Janousek, MD, PhD⁶* George J. Klein, MD, FRCP(C)^{7†} Ian H. Law, MD, FACC, FHRS^{8*†} Fred J. Morady, MD, FACC^{9†} Thomas Paul, MD, FACC, FHRS^{10*†} James C. Perry, MD, FACC, FHRS^{10*†} Shubhayan Sanatani, MD, FRCPC, FHRS^{12*†} Ronn E. Tanel, MD^{13*†}

¹Arizona Pediatric Cardiology Consultants & Phoenix Children's Hospital, Phoenix, AZ, USA; ²Children's Hospital Boston, Boston, MA, USA; ³Mayo Clinic, Rochester, MN, USA; ⁴The Royal Children's Hospital, Melbourne, Australia; ⁵Bambino Gesù Hospital, Rome, Italy; ⁶Children's Heart Centre, University Hospital Motol, Prague, Czech Republic; ⁷University of Western Ontario, Ontario, Canada; ⁸University of Iowa Children's Hospital, Iowa City, IA, USA; ⁹University of Michigan Health System, Ann Arbor, MI, USA; ¹⁰Georg-August-University, Göttingen, Germany; ¹¹Rady Children's Hospital/UCSD, San Diego, CA, USA; ¹²British Columbia Children's Hospital, Vancouver, Canada; ¹³UCSF Benioff Children's Hospital, San Francisco, CA, USA.

Preamble

The purpose of this consensus statement is to provide upto-date clinical practice guidelines on the evaluation and management of the asymptomatic young patient with a

KEYWORDS Ablation; HRS/PACES Consensus Statement; Preexcitation; Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome (Heart Rhythm 2012;9:1006-1024)

*Member of Pediatric and Congenital Electrophysiology Society (PACES).

[†]Member of Heart Rhythm Society (HRS).

Permissions: Modification, alteration, enhancement, and/or distribution of this document are not permitted without the express permission of the Pediatric and Congenital Electrophysiology Society or the Heart Rhythm Society. Wolff-Parkinson-White (WPW) electrocardiographic (ECG) pattern.¹ The terminology WPW was first used to describe a "bundle-branch pattern" with a short PR interval in healthy young people prone to paroxysmal tachycardia and/or atrial fibrillation. Although isolated case reports preceded the 1930 landmark manuscript, history correctly credits identification of the syndrome to Drs. Wolff, Parkinson, and White. Over the years, the syndrome evolved through observations by anatomists and electrophysiologists to appreciate a reentrant circuit involving both the AV node–His axis as well as the accessory pathway. Isolated ventricular preexcitation refers to the abnormal ECG pattern in the absence of any clinical cardiovascular symptoms. Isolated

 1547-5271/\$ -see front matter © 2012 Pediatric and Congenital Electrophysiology Society and the Heart Rhythm Society.

 Published by Elsevier Inc. on behalf of the Heart Rhythm Society.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.hrthm.2012.03.050

ventricular preexcitation has historically been termed "asymptomatic WPW" or asymptomatic WPW syndrome. This manuscript provides guidelines only for individuals with an abnormal ECG pattern of ventricular preexcitation without symptoms. In response to recently published literature regarding patients with WPW, the Pediatric and Congenital Electrophysiology Society (PACES) in conjunction with the Heart Rhythm Society (HRS) created a writing committee to provide helpful clinical guidelines for asymptomatic patients with WPW. There are at present no specific guidelines addressing risk stratification in the asymptomatic young patient with WPW. Selected members from within PACES and HRS have reviewed and analyzed the published scientific literature, carefully assessing the absolute and relative risks of invasive procedures and therapies so as to provide a practical approach to optimize patient care.

This consensus statement is directed at all health care professionals who treat young patients with WPW. For the specific purpose of this statement, the young patient is defined as being between 8 and 21 years of age, an age span routinely cared for by pediatricians and pediatric cardiologists and generally considered old enough to undergo exercise testing and catheter ablation if indicated. A specific care plan for a particular patient must be made by the health care provider, the patient, and his or her parents after careful consideration and a thorough discussion of patient characteristics that impact on risks and benefits. For the purposes of this document, we defined "consensus" as 75% or greater agreement by the writing members. Writing committee members were selected by PACES or HRS based on their expertise in the field. The 11 pediatric electrophysiologists on the writing committee included representatives from the United States, Canada, Australia, and Europe. The writing committee members were tasked with performing a formal literature review and then weighing the strength of the evidence for or against an observational strategy or a particular procedure in the evaluation and management of asymptomatic patients with a WPW ECG pattern (isolated ventricular preexcitation). Although this document does discuss symptomatic patients with WPW, it does so in the construct of establishing a framework into the historical armamentarium of noninvasive and invasive studies that have been utilized for risk assessment. This document does not address management strategies for symptomatic patients with WPW.

The committee was divided into subgroups to best review key aspects of the evaluation and management of WPW. These sections included detailed reviews and assessments of (1) natural history, (2) noninvasive risk stratification, (3) invasive risk stratification, (4) risks of ablation, (5) WPW and congenital heart disease, and (6) WPW and attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. For purposes of this consensus statement the committee defined asymptomatic WPW as individuals without any cardiovascular complaints (chest pain, palpitations, presyncope, and/or syncope) or documented tachycardia.

Methods and evidence

The recommendations listed in this document are, whenever possible, evidence-based. An extensive literature search was performed. The committee also reviewed documents related to the subject matter as previously published by HRS, the American College of Cardiology (ACC), the American Heart Association (AHA), and the European Heart Rhythm Association (EHRA). The committee reviewed and ranked evidence supporting current recommendations based on a standard process as previously described and summarized here (*Methodology Manual and Policies from the ACCHF and AHA Task Force on Practice Guidelines June 2010*).

- A. Classification of Recommendations
 - Class I: Conditions for which there is evidence and/or general agreement that a given procedure or treatment plan is beneficial, useful, and effective
 - Class II: Conditions for which there is conflicting evidence and/or divergence of opinion about the usefulness/efficacy of a procedure or treatment
 - Class IIa: Weight of evidence/opinion is in favor of usefulness/efficacy
 - Class IIb: Usefulness/efficacy is less well established by evidence/opinion
 - Class III: Conditions for which there is conflicting evidence and/or general agreement that a procedure or treatment is not useful/effective and in some cases may be harmful
- B. Level of Evidence
 - Level of Evidence A: Data derived from multiple randomized clinical trials or meta-analyses
 - Level of Evidence B: Data derived from a single randomized trial or nonrandomized studies
 - Level of Evidence C: Only consensus opinion of experts, case studies, or standard of care
 - Level of Evidence D: Expert opinion without studies

Document review and approval

This document was reviewed by the executive committee within PACES, none of whom were on the writing committee, as well as by additional members of HRS. All writing members approved the final version. The writing committee thanks all reviewers for their comments and suggestions, many of which were incorporated into this manuscript. Disclosures for writing members and reviewers are in the Appendix.

> Mitchell I. Cohen, MD, FACC, FHRS Chair, Guideline Development Committee, PACES

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Natural history and presentation of WPW
- 3. Risk stratification in WPW
- 4. Noninvasive evaluation of WPW patients
- 5. Rationale, definition, and techniques for an invasive EP study

- 6. EP risk stratification of WPW
 - 6.1. Symptomatic patients
 - **6.2.** Asymptomatic patients
 - 6.3. Risks of invasive EP study
- 7. Catheter ablation: success rates, risks, and other considerations
 - 7.1. Efficacy of catheter ablation
 - 7.2. Cryoablation
 - 7.2. Risks and complications
- 8. Special issues
 - 8.1. WPW and CHD
 - 8.2. WPW and ADHD
 - 8.3. WPW and sports participation
- 9. Recommendations for young asymptomatic patients (8–21 years) with WPW ECG pattern
 9.1. Management algorithm
- 10. References
- **11.** Author disclosures
- 12. Peer review disclosures

1. Introduction

Since Wolff, Parkinson, and White published their sentinel paper in 1930, much has been learned about the anatomy, electrophysiology, and natural history of accessory connections exhibiting antegrade conduction.¹ Classically, patients with Wolff-Parkinson-White (WPW) syndrome presented with palpitations or presyncope caused by an atrioventricular (AV) reciprocating tachycardia or, less commonly, a primary atrial tachycardia. Rapid conduction of atrial fibrillation (AF) over the accessory pathway resulting in ventricular fibrillation (VF) is rare but unfortunately may be the first manifestation of WPW syndrome, even in the young.^{2–4} Refinements in catheter ablation equipment and techniques have rendered ablation a highly effective therapy for WPW in children.

In recent years, the use of electrocardiograms (ECGs) for screening prior to sports participation, medical and surgical procedures, and initiation of some medications has identified increasing numbers of asymptomatic individuals with a WPW ECG pattern. The optimum management of these patients is not known. Although successful catheter ablation is capable of eliminating the risk of sudden death in the asymptomatic child with a WPW ECG pattern, uniform referral of every child for an ablation could also result in serious and potentially life-threatening complications, possibly greater in number than the deaths averted from untreated disease. A PACES position statement for the use of radiofrequency ablation (RFA) in children was published nearly 10 years ago and classified asymptomatic preexcitation in children >5 years to be a Class IIB indication for RFA.⁵ No recommendations were given with regard to the evaluation, either noninvasive or invasive, and risk stratification for those young individuals. The arrhythmia task force from the committee forming guidelines for sports recommendations in patients with cardiac disease at the 36th Bethesda Conference recommended consideration of a more in-depth evaluation of individuals with asymptomatic WPW prior to sports participation, including evaluation by an electrophysiologic study before allowing participation in moderate-to-severe high-intensity competitive sports, but there were no recommendations for individuals not participating in sports.⁶

Due to the increased awareness of sudden unexpected death in the medical and lay communities, the real but small risk of sudden unexplained death with asymptomatic WPW, and the controversial literature regarding asymptomatic WPW in recent years, PACES working in concert with HRS formed a committee to review the subject and develop guidelines for pediatric and adult electrophysiologists and cardiologists. The purpose of the current paper is to develop updated practice guidelines for the management of the asymptomatic pediatric and young adult patient with a WPW ECG pattern (isolated ventricular preexcitation).

2. Natural history and presentation of WPW

The natural history of the asymptomatic patient with WPW is extrapolated from data on symptomatic patients and from asymptomatic patients discovered by fortuitous ECG testing. In large-scale general population studies involving children and adults, the prevalence of WPW is estimated to be 1–3 in 1000 individuals.^{7–13} Familial studies have shown an incidence of 5.5 in 1000 among first-degree relatives following an index case of WPW.¹⁴ Identification of the truly asymptomatic patient with WPW is difficult, as these individuals are by definition without palpitations, syncope, or other symptoms secondary to ventricular preexcitation. At present, it is estimated that approximately 65% of adolescents and 40% of individuals over 30 years with a WPW pattern on a resting ECG are asymptomatic.^{15–19}

The majority of patients with WPW have normal cardiac anatomy. Accessory pathways are thought to be an embryologic remnant, as substantiated by diagnosis of supraventricular tachycardia (SVT) *in utero* and by a greater prevalence of WPW in newborns and infants.^{20,21} WPW also occurs in patients with myopathic and structural congenital heart disease (CHD), most notably in patients with Ebstein anomaly. Uncommonly, ventricular preexcitation may coexist with cardiac rhabdomyoma. These accessory pathways are usually discovered in newborns, are associated with tumors located at the AV groove or septum, and likely are due to disruption of the electrical integrity of the AV annulus rather than being true accessory pathways. Hypertrophic cardiomyopathy may be associated with WPW, often in the setting of specific gene mutations.^{22–25}

The presentation of symptomatic WPW in those with a normal heart is age-dependent and may vary with accessory pathway location and properties. In infancy, the diagnosis is typically made following an episode of AV reciprocating tachycardia. Although episodes of SVT often decrease in frequency in the first year of life (>90% of patients),¹⁵ tachycardia recurs in approximately 30% at an average age of 7–8 years. Furthermore, there is evidence that in the first

year of life the accessory pathway loses anterograde conduction in as many as 40% of patients,¹⁵ and SVT becomes noninducible in a similar percentage, suggesting loss of retrograde conduction as well.²⁶ If WPW and tachycardia coexist in an individual beyond 5 years of age, they continue to be present more than a decade later in more than 75% of individuals.^{4–6} Young adults with WPW typically present with arrhythmia symptoms,²⁷ but the prevalence of documented SVT is lower.¹⁶ Up to 31% of adults may lose the capacity for ventricular preexcitation and anterograde conduction over a 5-year time period.²⁸ The loss of preexcitation in children and adolescents over a similar time period is variable (0%–26%).^{20,29,30} This observation may reflect the loss of preexcitation in younger children compared to a preadolescent or adolescent population.

Rarely patients present with WPW due to the hemodynamic effects of preexcitation alone. This is presumed to be due to dyssynchronous ventricular contraction associated with a highly preexcited rhythm.³¹ Tomaske et al³² found an improvement in ejection fraction after ablation of septal accessory pathways in pediatric patients. The prevalence of septal pathways in the cases reported with dysfunction may relate to the pattern of ventricular activation in these specific pathways, but data are limited.

Most worrisome are the uncommon presentations of syncope or aborted sudden cardiac arrest as the first manifestation of WPW syndrome. The mechanism of sudden death in patients with WPW syndrome is very rapid conduction of atrial flutter and AF, which provokes VF.³³ Although most WPW patients resuscitated from a sudden cardiac death (SCD) event have had prior symptoms,^{4,33,34} VF or a cardiac arrest may be the sentinel event, particularly in children.^{2–4}

The earliest evidence for higher risk in asymptomatic children was actually somewhat overlooked. In 1979, Klein et al⁴ reported on 25 patients with WPW who presented with VF; the only previously asymptomatic patients all were children, ages 8, 9, and 16 years. In 1993, Russell et al³⁵ reported on life-threatening presentations in a group of 256 patients with WPW. Of 60 asymptomatic children in the

study, 6 (10%) had a life-threatening symptom as their initial presentation. In 48% of 42 pediatric patients with WPW and cardiac arrest, the cardiac arrest was the first symptom.³⁶ In 1996, Bromberg et al³⁷ reported that from a group of 60 children \leq 18 years of age with varying risk undergoing WPW surgery, 2 of 10 high-risk patients had a documented VF arrest as their initial presentation. Although none of these retrospective studies followed a cohort of asymptomatic children with WPW to look for events, the data strongly suggest that the incidence of life-threatening symptoms in asymptomatic children with a WPW ECG pattern may be much higher than in adults. This may be because all asymptomatic adults with a WPW ECG pattern by definition have survived childhood without any symptoms, demonstrating a lower risk.

While population studies have yielded variable estimates of the incidence of life-threatening arrhythmias leading to sudden death in WPW, the majority of studies have reported a very low incidence of SCD (Table 1).

An incidence of 4.5 episodes of sudden death, including resuscitated SCD, per 1000 patient-years was recently reported in a prospective study of asymptomatic adults with WPW followed for a mean of 38 months.³⁸ Furthermore, individuals lacking symptoms are not free of the possibility of developing SVT. In a large community-based combined adult and pediatric WPW population study, none of the 53 asymptomatic individuals (mean age 35 ± 16 years) died suddenly, although approximately one-third of individuals <40 years of age became symptomatic with either documented SVT or palpitations.¹⁷ While the majority of these natural history studies (Table 1) support an excellent prognosis in asymptomatic patients with WPW, the studies have several limitations: variable length of follow-up, variable percentages of asymptomatic and symptomatic patients, and variable percentages of patients <21 years of age.

Intertwined with SCD and developing reentrant SVT is the natural history of WPW patients developing AF. In two separate combined adult and pediatric studies involving 386 patients followed for 10 years, 15% developed spontaneous AF, with 4 having SCD (ages 20, 31, 34, 71 years).^{39,40} In

Table 1	Incidence of	of sudden	cardiac	death	in	natural	history	studies	involving	children	and	young	adult	S

Author	Patients	Years studied	Age	Follow-up (y)	Died	SCD per patient-year	Comments
Berkman (1968) ¹⁵⁵	128	1933–1968	21	20	3	0.0039	
Leitch (1990) ⁸⁰	75	1980-1988	34 ± 13	4.3	0	0.0000	
Klein (1989) ²⁸	27	1981–1989	45	4.5	0	0.0000	
Munger (1993) ¹⁷	113*	1953-1989	33 ± 16	12	2	0.0015	Both SCD patients were symptomatic
Inoue (2000) ¹⁵⁶	57	1985-1993	10.2	8	0	0.0000	
Goudevenos (2000) ¹⁶	157	1990-1997	20	4.6	0	0.0000	
Fitzsimmons (2001) ⁴⁹	238*	1955-1999	34.3	21.8	1	0.0002	SCD patient had SVT and atrial fibrillation
Sarubbi (2003) ³⁰	98	1985-2001	5.4	4	1	0.0019	
Pappone (2003) ³⁸	212	1993-1996	36 ± 21	3.2	1	0.0150	2 patients had VF and were resuscitated
Santinelli (2009) ²⁹	184	1995-2005	10	4.6	0	0.0000	3 patients had VF and were resuscitated

Age is expressed as mean or median (years).

SCD = sudden cardiac death; SVT = supraventricular tachycardia; VF = ventricular fibrillation.

*Combined asymptomatic and symptomatic patients.

a recent study of 709 patients (ages 34 ± 16 years) with WPW undergoing electrophysiologic (EP) testing, AF was the initial presentation in 44 patients.⁴¹ AF was inducible in 17% (42/248) of asymptomatic patients compared to 25.5% (24/94) with a history of syncope. Spontaneous AF was observed in 10% of patients <18 years of age, and the location of the accessory pathway was not predictive of AF. Determining which WPW patients are at highest risk for life-threatening arrhythmia by history alone remains a dilemma, but in the absence of noninvasive and invasive testing the reported warning flags appear to be younger age (<30 years),^{2–4,28,37} male gender,^{2,3} history of AF,⁴ prior syncope,² associated congenital or other heart disease,^{2,42} and familial WPW.¹⁴

3. Risk stratification in WPW

In current practice the intent of risk stratification in asymptomatic children with a WPW ECG pattern is to identify which individuals are at risk for a lethal cardiac arrhythmia. In its simplest form, risk stratification utilizes noninvasive testing (eg. Holter or exercise stress test) to ascertain true loss of preexcitation at physiological heart rates. Inability to clearly demonstrate absolute loss of manifest preexcitation warrants consideration for more invasive EP testing. The critical obligatory condition for VF is the presence of a short anterograde functional refractory period of the accessory pathway as reflected in the shortest R-R interval between preexcited beats in AF. Invasive EP testing should include measurement of the shortest preexcited R-R interval during induced AF in addition to determination of the number and location of accessory pathways, the anterograde and retrograde characteristics of the accessory pathway(s) and AV node, and the effective refractory period of the accessory pathway(s) (APERP) and of the ventricle at multiple cycle lengths.

4. Noninvasive evaluation of WPW patients

ECG

The ECG during preexcited AF affords a "true" assessment of the anterograde characteristics of the accessory pathway. The measurement of the Shortest Pre-Excited R-R Interval (SPERRI) has been used to determine accessory pathway properties; however, much of the literature is based on invasive studies. A SPERRI of 220-250 ms and especially less than 220 ms is more commonly seen in patients with WPW who have experienced cardiac arrest.^{29,37} Conversely, intermittent loss of preexcitation during sinus rhythm suggests that the risk of cardiac arrest is low. The phenomenon of intermittent preexcitation is poorly understood but is likely related to the refractory period of the accessory pathway as well as the cellular connectivity within the pathway,^{43–46} resulting in variable conduction. The variation can be within a few beats, captured on a single ECG or at disparate points in time, determined on ambulatory monitoring or serial ECGs. The incidence of intermittent preexcitation in one study of WPW using ambulatory monitoring was as high as 67%.⁴⁷ Although intermittent preexcitation is a predictor of poor anterograde conduction through the accessory pathway,^{43,44,48} it has been observed, on rare occasions, in some patients with cardiac arrest.⁴⁰ Intermittent preexcitation does not exclude patients from developing SVT. In a large study of primarily military aviators followed over 2 decades, 23% with constant pre-excitation developed reentrant SVT in comparison to the 8.3% who only exhibited intermittent preexcitation.⁴⁹

The presence of multiple accessory pathways has been identified as a risk factor for VF.^{29,50,51} The appearance of different preexcited morphologies on an ECG or ambulatory monitoring confers higher risk and individuals are less likely to be asymptomatic.⁵¹ Approximately 5%–10% of patients with a WPW pattern may present with preexcited tachycardia, allowing for an understanding of the anterograde conduction properties of the accessory pathway.^{52,53}

Serial ambulatory ECG monitoring may be used to screen for paroxysmal AF, especially in asymptomatic patients with a WPW ECG pattern who may not be cognizant of brief atrial arrhythmias. The occurrence of paroxysmal AF in asymptomatic patients with WPW may be dependent on the frequency of noninvasive surveillance. In a prospective study of 184 asymptomatic children with WPW followed for 5 years, biannual Holter monitors identified paroxysmal AF in 22 patients (12%),²⁹ significantly higher than the spectrum of Holter findings in asymptomatic adults with WPW.⁴⁰

Medication challenge

Although no longer routinely utilized, sodium channelblocking agents have been used to determine the properties of an accessory pathway. Gaita et al⁵⁴ reported on 65 patients with a WPW pattern, 15 of whom were asymptomatic. Subjects underwent EP study, stress testing, and pharmacologic challenge with procainamide and propafenone. Accessory pathway block with medication challenge was associated with a longer APERP at EP study.⁵⁴ However, the specificity of loss of preexcitation after administration of sodium-blocking medication was poor compared to the shortest preexcited R-R intervals during inducible AF.^{54–57}

Exercise testing

Disappearance of preexcitation during exercise testing has been proposed as a surrogate method of assessing the accessory pathway refractory period.⁵⁸ Delta wave behavior during exercise is dependent upon the relative effects of sympathetic stimulation on accessory pathway refractoriness and AV nodal conduction. More rapid AV nodal conduction at higher exertion levels may mask persistent preexcitation through a left-sided accessory pathway, even when subtle clues for WPW are sought.⁵⁹ Daubert et al⁶⁰ demonstrated that *only* abrupt and *complete* loss of preexcitation during exercise confirmed a long anterograde APERP. In a predominantly adult prospective study, persistence of preexcitation during exercise stress showed a sensitivity of 96% but a specificity of only 17% in predicting either a SPERRI in AF \leq 250 ms or an APERP of \leq 250 ms.⁵⁴ The positive predictive value was 40% and the negative predictive value was 88%. Of note, preexcitation disappeared suddenly in exercise in only 1 of 24 patients with SPERRI/ERP \leq 250 ms, and this was the patient with the shortest SPERRI (180 ms) in the series.⁵⁴

Abrupt disappearance of preexcitation during stress testing occurred in only 15% of a predominantly pediatric group of patients.⁶¹ Interobserver reliability of loss of delta wave was imperfect, likely related to the difficulties in discerning subtle preexcitation when partially masked by rapid AV nodal conduction. Individuals with abrupt loss of preexcitation on exercise had a statistically longer APERP, though reports of subjects with an APERP of 260 ms were still noted in children who were deemed to have loss of preexcitation on the treadmill. Chimienti et al⁶² compared exercise testing to an isoproterenol infusion in 20 subjects with a WPW pattern; they found that the APERP did not correlate well with the SPERRI during AF, except under the influence of isoproterenol.

5. Rationale, definition, and techniques for an invasive EP study

In the absence of a clear understanding of the accessory pathway anterograde characteristics by noninvasive testing, invasive testing should be considered. The purpose of such an invasive EP study in asymptomatic patients with a WPW ECG pattern is to identify a potential subgroup of patients who may be at increased risk for lethal cardiac arrhythmias and in whom the risk-to-benefit ratio favors ablation. In adults with asymptomatic preexcitation, 70% of electrophysiologists recently surveyed supported risk stratification and prophylactic ablation.⁶³ In a separate survey of 43 pediatric electrophysiologists, 84% used some form of an EP study to risk-stratify asymptomatic children with WPW,⁶⁴ with 77% affirming RFA would be indicated when the shortest preexcited R-R interval in AF is <240 ms. Utilization of an APERP <240 ms or induction of SVT as an indication for RF ablation was only noted in 47% and 26%, respectively.

For this document, EP testing will be defined as "invasive" when it is performed using either intracardiac or esophageal catheters. Protocols for both esophageal and intracardiac studies are well described, and anterograde characteristics of the accessory pathway are well correlated between the two approaches.^{65,66} However, transesophageal pacing is less effective in its ability to discern multiple accessory pathways, the evaluation of retrograde conduction, and the precise location of the accessory pathway, and would require intracardiac catheter placement if ablation was to be performed during the same procedure. Nonetheless, these two techniques utilize a similar approach to determine the inducibility of AV reciprocating tachycardia, AF, determination of APERP, 1:1 preexcited conduction of atrially paced rhythm, SPERRI in induced AF, and use of isoproterenol. Isoproterenol almost uniformly results in shortening of the anterograde refractory period of the accessory pathway and an increase in ventricular rates during atrial pacing and AF.⁶⁷ Because of this effect and the fact that the value of isoproterenol in risk stratification has not been clearly determined from a prospective trial, risk profile is generally determined at baseline. Sustained AF or AV reciprocating tachycardia is defined as a tachycardia lasting longer than 1 minute; however, controversy exists as to the duration of induced tachycardia that is considered pathologic, varying between 30 seconds and 5 minutes.⁶⁸

6. EP risk stratification of WPW 6.1. Symptomatic patients

In clinical studies of adult WPW patients, a SPERRI \leq 220–250 ms during AF has been shown to be the best discriminator of those at risk of VF.^{3,4,55} Based on combined pediatric and adult studies (age range 5–68 years; mean 28 years), the APERP is less useful because it (1) is less predictive of life-threatening events (range 180–310 ms) than the SPERRI in AF and (2) is similar between patients with WPW and VF and those with WPW and AV reentrant SVT, but without VF.^{3,4} In symptomatic patients the presence of multiple accessory pathways and possibly septal bypass tracts may be a separate risk factor for the development of VF.^{2–4,69} Multiple accessory pathways may also be a determinant of susceptibility to AF independent of degeneration to VF.⁷⁰

The sensitivity of SPERRI in AF is 88%-100% for identifying symptomatic adults at risk for VF,^{3,4,55} but because of the low incidence of cardiac arrest in these patients, the positive predictive value of a SPERRI <220 ms in adults is only 19%-38%.^{4,55} This low positive predictive value in adults, especially those over 40 years, has been used to argue against routine use of invasive EP testing to identify the at-risk cohort.^{3,17,71,72}

Bromberg et al³⁷ evaluated symptomatic children with WPW ≤ 18 years of age and grouped patients into those with documented VF, syncope or spontaneous AF, and isolated reentrant SVT. All patients with clinical VF or asystole in whom AF was inducible at EP testing had a SPERRI <220 ms (sensitivity 100%) compared to a SPERRI <220 ms in 74% and 35% in the other groups. This study suggested that a SPERRI <220 ms carried a threefold increase in the risk of SCD compared to the general WPW population. Paul et al⁷³ performed invasive EP studies in 74 symptomatic children with WPW. Induction of sustained AF was noted in 9 of 14 patients with syncope but in none of the 60 patients without syncope. All patients with syncope and AF had a SPERRI \leq 220 ms (sensitivity 100%). Of the 34 patients without syncope but with inducible nonsustained AF, 9 had a SPERRI ≤ 220 ms (specificity 74%). Caution in attributing syncope to WPW is warranted because vasovagal syncope is very common and not infrequently the cause of syncope in these patients.

In children, APERP as an isolated variable was of little prognostic value for risk of syncope,⁷³ AF,⁷⁴ or SVT⁷⁵ and is less well correlated with VF than the SPERRI in AF.⁴ While the EP properties of the accessory pathway may change over time,^{28,76} in those patients with a short APERP

(<260 ms) significant lengthening to alter potential risk over time is rare.⁷⁷ Finally, Teo⁶⁹ reported that the presence of multiple accessory pathways in conjunction with a SPERRI <250 ms achieved a specificity of 92% and a positive predictive value for future arrhythmic events in 22%.

6.2. Asymptomatic patients

The purpose of invasive EP evaluation of the asymptomatic patient with WPW diagnosed by ECG is to identify elevated risk for SCD. Correlation of symptoms with EP indices has varied between studies. Santinelli et al²⁹ observed that younger age, a shorter refractory period of the accessory pathway, and multiple accessory pathways correlated with clinical symptoms, while Dubin et al⁷⁵ found that a short refractory period and presence of multiple accessory pathways were not associated with clinical symptoms. Similarly, symptoms have been shown to be similar in children with WPW and inducible AF and those without atrial vulnerability.⁷⁸

Patients with intermittent preexcitation or accessory pathways with decremental conduction generally have poor anterograde conduction characteristics and possibly carry a lower risk of SCD.^{40,79} However, the conduction properties of septal accessory pathways in particular can be quite variable, with septal pathways exhibiting loss of preexcitation on ambulatory monitoring at a range of heart rates far slower than preexcited R-R intervals during AF.79 Patients lacking retrograde conduction via the accessory pathway at the time of EP testing similarly appear to be at lower risk for SCD. Leitch et al⁸⁰ evaluated 75 asymptomatic adults with WPW and observed lack of a functional retrograde limb in 27%. Approximately 20% of asymptomatic adults may lose their capacity for anterograde conduction, rendering them at negligible risk for SCD.^{38,81} Despite this potentially favorable natural history in adults >35 years of age, some asymptomatic adults with WPW may have EP indices that harbor a concern for the possibility of SCD in the future.^{80,82} A SPERRI <250 ms has been noted in 20%-26% of asymptomatic adults with a WPW pattern.48,76,80

Confirming these findings, Delise et al⁸³ compared symptomatic and asymptomatic young adults with WPW by endocardial stimulation and observed that the prevalence of AF and SPERRI <250 ms were not different between the two groups; however, retrograde conduction of the accessory pathway was significantly more prevalent in symptomatic patients (100% vs 22%).

In a prospective study evaluating the prognostic value of a transesophageal evaluation at rest and during effort in young asymptomatic athletes with WPW pattern, Bertaglia et al⁸⁴ showed that, although there were no deaths, rapid anterograde conduction of the accessory pathway was observed in 30% of patients. The combination of rapid anterograde conduction, vulnerability to AF, and retrograde conduction of the accessory pathway was found in a significantly higher percentage of patients <25 years of age compared to those >25 years of age.

In a study of 21 asymptomatic adults with a WPW ECG pattern, administration of isoproterenol during invasive EP assessment significantly shortened the SPERRI from 264 to 219 ms, resulting in 67% of patients showing a SPERRI \leq 250 ms on isoproterenol compared to 33% at baseline.⁸⁵ Use of isoproterenol during EP testing in children has been advocated as a possible surrogate of adrenergic stimulation for testing done under anesthetic conditions. However, there are little natural history data in children and young adults with aborted SCD whose EP studies were performed with isoproterenol. Moore et al⁸⁶ recently reported on 151 children with WPW, who underwent invasive EP testing with and without isoproterenol under general anesthesia with propofol, of whom 27 were asymptomatic. They showed that isoproterenol significantly reduced the APERP, minimum cycle length for 1:1 preexcitation during atrial pacing, and the SPERRI in both symptomatic and asymptomatic patients, increasing the percentage of patients with SPERRI \leq 250 ms from around 7 to 38. In the asymptomatic group APERP decreased by 74 ± 92 ms, the minimal cycle length for 1:1 preexcitation during atrial pacing decreased by 110 ± 102 ms, and SPERRI decreased by 88 \pm 57 ms.⁸⁶ Further, there was no correlation between the EP characteristics on isoproterenol and past symptoms, and there were no organized follow-up data.

Three important studies on WPW therapy and the risk of sudden death have recently been published by a single group of investigators in Milan, Italy. The first was a prospective study of 212 asymptomatic adult WPW patients of whom 33 became symptomatic over a 5-year period.³⁸ Those patients had a shorter APERP at baseline (246 vs 283 ms) and during isoproterenol infusion (203 vs 225 ms). The combination of a short APERP and inducibility of SVT had a positive predictive value of 47% with a negative predictive value of 97% in regard to subsequent arrhythmic events (most commonly, occurrence of SVT). There were three initially asymptomatic patients with an APERP <200 ms and a SPERRI <230 ms who subsequently developed VF.

In the second Milanese study, clinical and invasive EP data were collected on 184 asymptomatic children with WPW with a median follow-up of 5 years.²⁹ In comparison with those who remained asymptomatic, the 51 patients who later became clinically symptomatic were observed to have significantly different EP indices, including an APERP \leq 240 ms (89% vs 17%), multiple accessory pathways (47%) vs 6.0%), and an intact AV reentrant SVT circuit (84% vs 23%). Three patients experienced VF, but all three were successfully resuscitated without neurologic sequelae. Interestingly, all three children had documented preexcited AF with rapid ventricular response that degenerated to VF just prior (1 patient) or at hospital admission (2 patients). All 3 had high-risk accessory pathway characteristics at the initial EP study (APERP <220 ms and SPERRI <200 ms), and all subsequently underwent successful ablations. In evaluating an anterograde APERP ≤ 240 ms for assessment of risk for VF there was excellent sensitivity (100%) and negative predictive value, but low specificity (25%) and positive predictive value in affirming its role for identifying patients at low risk for VF. This study population is remarkable for the high rate of major clinical events compared to other studies of larger WPW populations in adults.

In a separate prospective clinical trial, 47 asymptomatic children with a WPW pattern at high risk for arrhythmias (inducible AF or SVT) were randomized to ablation or observation.⁵⁰ During 3 years of follow-up, 7 children developed symptoms, 2 having AF with rapid ventricular response. Five others were observed to have silent AF on ambulatory monitors and 1 died suddenly, a potentially important observation. Multiple accessory pathways conferred increased risk for developing arrhythmias.⁵⁰ It is worth noting that in each of these studies, the life-threatening event rate was substantially higher than a meta-analysis that followed 749 adults for a total of 6726 years without any cases of SCD.⁸³

Using invasive evaluation of the accessory pathway in asymptomatic children with WPW whose preexcitation persists beyond the elementary school year and exhibit persistent preexcitation at higher heart rates, 25% may have short refractory periods of the pathway even in the absence of an inducible reciprocating tachycardia during the EP study.⁸⁷ Sarubbi et al³⁰ followed 98 asymptomatic children with a WPW pattern over 4 years. SVT was inducible in 48% of patients at the initial EP study, but during follow-up only 5 patients developed SVT (4 SVT, 1 AF). The minimal atrial paced cycle length with sustained preexcitation was shorter in children who subsequently became symptomatic (236 ms) than in those who did not (276 ms), a finding consistent with previously mentioned adult studies. One previously asymptomatic patient whose parents refused therapy recommended for rapid anterograde EP conduction indices died suddenly at 8 years of age. Inability to induce SVT conferred a good prognosis regardless of the anterograde accessory pathway properties.

To summarize the data for the value of invasive EP testing to identify risk in patients with symptomatic WPW, the sensitivity and negative predictive value of a SPERRI ≤ 250 ms is high, but the specificity and positive predictive value are appreciably lower. Further, in asymptomatic adults and children, the specificity and positive predictive value are even lower because the incidence of subsequent sudden death is so low (Table 2). Although isoproterenol clearly raises the sensitivity for events in symptomatic patients by placing many more patients in a high-risk category, it markedly reduces the specificity of invasive EP testing. These observations apply to both adults and children; however, there is far less natural history data in children, and the prognostic value of the addition of isoproterenol for risk stratification has not been adequately studied in any group.

6.3. Risks of invasive EP study

The results of EP testing using programmed atrial and/or ventricular stimulation assist in risk stratification of asymptomatic patients with WPW and elucidate the mechanism of SVT in those with palpitations. While complications of an invasive EP study are infrequent, patients exposed to such invasive testing undergo a procedure to assess risk for potentially life-threatening arrhythmias but may receive no direct benefit from ablative therapy. The risk of femoral

Table 2 Invasive electrophysiologic parameters in asymptomatic children and young adults with WPW pattern

Author	Pts	Age (y)	F/U (y)	APERP	APERP ≤240	SPERRI	SPERRI ≤250	Inducible SVT	PPV of SCD (SPERRI ≤250)	NPV of SCD (SPERRI ≤250)	VF arrest	Actual death
Pappone ³⁸	212	36	3	275 ± 34				47 (22%)			3*	
Santinelli ²⁹	184	10	4.7	270 (240-290)	48 (26%)			77 (42%)	3/48**	136/136**	3*	
Dubin ⁷⁵	23	12	2.5		2 (9%)			14 (61%)			0	0
Leitch ⁸⁰	72	34	4.3	293 (280-310)		274 (240-325)	23 (31%)	22 (29%)	0/23	49/49	0	0
Beckman ⁸²	15	33	7.5	356 ± 194		438 ± 106	2 (13%)	3 (20%)	0/2	13/13	0	0
Milstein ⁴⁸	42	36	2.4	333 \pm 106		277 ± 48	7 (17%)	16 (38%)	0/7	35/35	0	0
				288 ± 29			()	5 (15%)				
Satoh ¹⁵⁷	34	36	1.3	252 \pm 23 $^{\wedge}$	3 (9%)			12 (55%)^	0/3	31/31	0	0
Brembilla ⁷⁶	40	35	1.8		2 (5%)	341 (150-650)	7 (18%)	7 (18%)	0/7	33/33	0	0
Pappone ⁵⁰	27	10	1.6	240 (230-270)		230 $(215-230)^{\Delta}$	()	12 (44%)		,	3	
Pappone ¹⁵⁸	35	22	5	240 (230–260)		240 (225-250)†		14 (40%)			1*	
Bertaglia ^{84‡}	88	20	3.8	. ,			27 (30%)	. ,	0/27	61/61	0	0
Fazio ^{87‡}	8	7.8	4.2		2 (25%)		2 (25%)	0 (0%)	0/2	1	0	0
Sarubbi ⁵³	35	10	4	276 ± 39 [¶] 255 ± 27 [∫]	. ,	238 ± 9	5 (14%)	17 (48%)	1/5	30/30	1	1

AF = atrial fibrillation; APERP = accessory pathway effective refractory period; EP = electrophysiologic; NPV = negative predictive value; PPV = positive predictive value; SPERRI = shortest pre-excited RR in atrial fibrillation; WPW = Wolff-Parkinson-White; Other abbreviations as in Table 1.

A portion of this table was previously published (Copyright Permission: Journal of Cardiovascular Medicine 2007;8:668-674).

**APERP \leq 240.

 ΔData are from 2 controls at EP study.

†Data are from 21 controls at EP study.

‡Data based on esophageal EP study.

QData are from 18 patients without SVT and/or AF.

 \int Data are from 17 patients with SVT and/or AF.

 $\wedge Data$ from 22 patients on Isuprel.

^{*}SPERRI \leq 230.

venous occlusion and/or formation of an arteriovenous fistula is 2% and is more frequent in children weighing <10 kg.⁸⁸ In two large studies focusing on >1300 adult patients, complications related to EP procedures included venous thrombosis (1%), pulmonary emboli (0.3%–1.6%), thrombophlebitis (0.6%), infection (0.8%), and catheter-induced permanent complete AV block (0.1%).^{89,90} All EP studies, transesophageal or intracardiac, may result in induction of VF, even in those who are asymptomatic.⁹¹ The amount of radiation exposure for a diagnostic EP catheterization is relatively small but needs to be taken into context in patients who have other sources of radiation exposure. Radiation exposure generally is avoided by the use of transesophageal pacing.

7. Catheter ablation: success rates, risks, and other considerations

Since it was first introduced for WPW in the pediatric population in 1990, RFA has offered a potential definitive cure for arrhythmias that could previously be treated only with medications, DC ablation, or surgery. RFA is now widely accepted as a therapy for WPW and is frequently considered to be first-line therapy. This is due to high success rates and a low-risk profile, particularly when the use of cryoablation is included for septal accessory pathways and those near small coronary arteries. The success rates, risks, and other lifestyle considerations, including the potential cure for a chronic illness, are important issues when deciding whether a particular patient is a candidate for catheter ablation therapy. A thorough understanding of the current state of catheter ablation therapy is critical to the recommendation of this procedure to the family of an asymptomatic pediatric patient with WPW syndrome.

7.1. Efficacy of catheter ablation

Shortly after the first pediatric RFA procedure, members of the Pediatric Electrophysiology Society established the Pediatric Radiofrequency Ablation Registry.⁹² The Registry provided valuable insight into the progress of catheter ablation therapy and prompted the Prospective Assessment of Pediatric Cardiac Ablation study (PAPCA).⁹³

Registry data through the mid-1990s demonstrated a success rate for RFA of accessory AV pathways of 91% in pediatric patients.⁹⁴ Similar to that observed in studies involving adult patients, success rates varied by arrhythmia substrate location. The recurrence rate following a successful accessory pathway ablation during this era was a remarkably high 23% at 3-year follow-up.94 The presence of structural heart disease has been shown to be a predictor of lower success rates. Institutional experience strongly affects procedural success rates, with pediatric procedural experience conferring success rates >90%. To further evaluate the issue of operator experience, the Registry data were divided into an early era (1991-1995) and a later era (1996-1999) for RFA of SVT.95 Overall, there was a significant increase in ablation success rates from 90% in the early era to 95.2% in the later era. Compared with all substrates during these two periods, success rates for procedures involving an accessory pathway were evaluated, the success rate increased from 89% to 94%. A decrease in the complication rate from 4.3% to 2.9% in patients who underwent catheter ablation for an accessory pathway was observed in this study, and fluoroscopy times were shortened by 21% but were still remarkably high with a mean of 40.1 minutes.

In the subsequent PAPCA study, the overall success rate of ablated substrates study was 95.7%, with a success rate of 93% for manifest accessory pathways.93 The overall recurrence rate at 1-year follow-up reported in the prospective study was 10.7%, more favorable than previously reported. Most of the recurrences occurred during the first 2 months following the ablation procedure.96 The recurrence rate for manifest accessory pathways was 11.3%, with the lowest recurrence rate for left lateral and left septal accessory pathways and the highest recurrence rate for right lateral and septal accessory pathways.⁹⁶ Similar results with RFA were more recently published (2007) in a combined pediatric and adult publication of 508 patients with accessory pathways.97 Acute success rates were 94.9% across all locations (highest for left free wall, midseptal, and right free wall locations). Right anteroseptal accessory pathways were successfully ablated 78.5% of the time. Despite, reasonable RFA acute success across all locations, recurrent accessory pathway conduction was observed in 24.2%, 16.7%, 14.3%, 13%, and 5% for right free wall, midseptal, right anteroseptal, posteroseptal, and left free wall accessory pathways.⁹⁷

Several studies from individual pediatric centers reported success rates for ablation of WPW. Acute success rates of 92%–100% and recurrence rates of 0%–13% were reported in these smaller studies.^{98–103} Factors identified as contributing to a lack of long-term success included the presence of underlying structural heart disease and the presence of more than one accessory pathway.^{92,104,105} The results of RFA in pediatric patients with WPW have never been differentiated between patients with and without symptoms.

Ablation outcomes in the very young child

SVT due to WPW in infancy can usually be managed medically and tends to become less frequent after the first few months of life. However, there exists a subset of young patients with medically refractory arrhythmias, complex substrates (multiple accessory pathways and/or CHD), and severe symptoms who could potentially benefit from catheter ablation therapy. Studies from the Registry have suggested that the rates of successful ablation are probably similar to that seen in older children, but the rates of adverse events may be higher.⁹² Blaufox et al¹⁰⁶ however did not find any significant differences between patients less than or greater than 18 months when analyzing registry data. As experience is still limited and varied, indications for ablation are more conservative in infants and young children, and an asymptomatic WPW ECG pattern is generally not considered to be an indication for risk stratification or ablation.

7.2. Cryoablation

Cryoablation has been widely applied in pediatric practice in an attempt to further enhance the safety of the procedure, especially in those with septal accessory pathways or in close proximity to the coronary sinus.^{107–109} In 2006, the first study to evaluate outcomes in pediatric patients with manifest septal accessory pathways alone reported a similar acute success rate to RFA (88%), but with higher rates of recurrence.¹¹⁰ Although not statistically significant, success rates increased from 74% to 83% and recurrence rates decreased modestly from 57% to 33% over the course of the institution's experience, suggesting that operator experience and modifications to the procedure may lend to improved outcomes. Similar results were reported by the investigators of a multicenter study involving patients who underwent cryoablation for both manifest and concealed accessory pathways located within the coronary sinus.¹⁰⁷ Subsequently, other centers have shown promising results with cryoablation in pediatric patients with accessory pathways at all AV valve annuli locations, especially with increased institutional experience and modifications to the procedure.^{111–113} Based on the reported recurrence rates following an acutely successful cryoablation, data suggest that a greater number and longer cryoablation applications may lead to improved efficacy and fewer recurrences of accessory AV pathway conduction.¹¹⁴ In fact in a recent study 24 left-sided accessory pathways were successfully ablated with cryo-application with only 1 recurrence.¹¹⁵ In 2010, Sacher et al¹¹⁶ reported a 7-year multicenter study of 89 patients with WPW who failed a prior ablation. Although 91% were successfully ablated using multiple approaches (steerable sheaths, irrigated-tip catheters, cautious RF titration), parahisian and midseptal accessory pathways continued to pose a significant challenge. Cryoablation was used in 7 patients with an acute success in 6; however, recurrences within 30 days were appreciated in 3 patients. Follow-up cryoablation data in children will need to be tracked to assess true efficacy and risk compared to both diagnostic EP testing without ablation as well as RF application.

7.3. Risks and complications

Serious adverse events attributed to catheter ablation are AV block, cardiac perforation, coronary artery involvement, and thromboembolic events. Early registry studies reported an overall complication rate of 3.2% using a very inclusive definition of adverse events, which lumped major and minor events. Second- or third-degree AV block occurred in 0.7% and thrombus formation or thromboembolic event occurred in 0.3%.95 The PAPCA study reported a complication rate of 4.0% (based on the EP study and the RF ablation) and included no deaths.93 Right bundle branch block was reported in 0.5%, left bundle branch block in 0.1% of patients, and valvular regurgitation in 0.3% of patients. Hematoma at the catheter entry site was the most common complication reported (1.4%). AV block occurred in 0.9% of patients with manifest accessory pathways, but only in patients with a right or left septal pathway.

Some investigators have demonstrated that RFA and prolonged intravascular catheterization may be thrombogenic.¹¹⁷⁻¹¹⁹ Factors involved with thrombus formation during RFA include hyperthermia-induced coagulation and tissue necrosis, and endothelial injury.^{119,120} Thromboembolic events have been reported to occur in 0.6%-0.8% of procedures.^{120,121} The consequences of systemic embolization are greater when ablation is performed within the left-sided heart chambers and for ventricular tachycardia. In a multicenter study that included children and only reported events during ablation of SVT due to accessory pathway-mediated tachycardia or AV nodal reentrant tachycardia, the incidence of embolic complications with temperature-controlled RFA was 0.7%.¹²¹ The risk of thromboembolic events was not eliminated by anticoagulation protocols or number of RF lesions or mode of temperature-controlled ablation.^{120,121}

Patient weight of <15 kg was identified as a risk factor for a higher complication rate, but later studies no longer reported a statistically significant higher incidence of complications in smaller patients. The complications that occurred in the infant group did not appear to be related to age, weight, the presence of structural heart disease, or operator experience.¹⁰⁶ A subsequent report of complications during RFA procedures in small children suggested that the incidence was related to RF energy dose, lesion number, and total application time, indexed for body size.¹²² As might be expected, infants with an accessory pathway had a higher complication rate when the substrate was at a septal location, primarily due to the incidence of AV block, than at other sites.¹²²

Coronary artery injury has been reported after RF ablation for accessory-pathway mediated tachycardias in children, adults, and various animal studies secondary to thermal injury to the coronary artery wall.^{97,123–128} These cases have involved both left- and right-sided coronary arteries as well as posterior descending branch of the right coronary artery during ablation of a posterior septal AP. The exact clinical incidence and significance are not known since the occurrence has mostly been described anecdotally and no large-scale studies assessing the risk by serial selective coronary angiography are available. In a large retrospective study of 250 patients with WPW in which there were no coordinated attempts to investigate coronary artery injury after RF ablation, the reported incidence of injury was 0.8%.129 However, in a study in which coronary angiography was performed before and after RF ablation for accessory pathway-mediated tachycardias, Solomon et al¹²⁸ reported a 1.3% incidence of coronary artery injury in 70 patients.

There may be a time-dependent factor with regard to the clinical detection of coronary arterial narrowing following RF ablation. Animal studies have shown coronary artery effects both early and late after RFA.^{124,130,131} The inflammatory component of tissue injury caused by RF energy has been shown to invade layers of the right coronary artery, leading to acute narrowing when RF energy is applied to the atrial side of the lateral tricuspid annulus in pigs.¹²⁴ Further maturation of this injury can result in significant late steno-

sis.¹³⁰ The highest incidence of coronary artery damage has been reported in patients with CHD, specifically Ebstein anomaly of the tricuspid valve.¹²³ One center reported a prospectively identified incidence of coronary artery injury of 1.7% (2/117) in patients with a structurally normal heart and a posteroseptal accessory pathway.¹³² Reports of coronary artery stenosis have been identified by post-RFA angiography. Unless coronary artery injury is actively sought, it may be undiagnosed and underreported. Smaller children may be at particular risk for coronary artery injury, because the distance between the ablation catheter and the coronary arteries is significantly less than in adults. Coronary artery distance from endocardial ablation sites also varies in young patients and is correlated to accessory pathway location.¹³³

Death has been reported as a complication of pediatric RFA due to cardiac perforation, myocardial trauma, coronary or cerebral thromboembolism, and ventricular arrhythmia.¹³⁴ The overall incidence reported in the largest cohort (7600 procedures) of pediatric patients by the Registry was 0.22%. The incidence was 0.12% in children between the ages of 0.1 to 13.3 years with a structurally normal heart and 0.89% in those with structural heart disease. Of the patients with a structurally normal heart, 4 of the 5 patients in whom mortality occurred were undergoing catheter ablation of an accessory pathway mechanism. In the Registry report, mortality was more frequent in patients with structural heart disease, smaller patients, those who received a greater number of RF energy applications, and those undergoing left-sided procedures.¹³⁴

Radiation exposure during fluoroscopy is important to consider when recommending catheter ablation therapy. Fluoroscopy times can be particularly lengthy during technically challenging procedures, such as those involving a right lateral free wall accessory pathway. The recent incorporation of nonfluoroscopic imaging techniques, such three-dimensional electroanatomic mapping, has contributed to decreased radiation exposure during fluoroscopy but has not at present replaced the use of fluoroscopy for all WPW substrates.

8. Special issues

8.1. WPW and CHD

The association of ventricular preexcitation and WPW with CHD is well known. In a study of infants with WPW, 20% had CHD.15 Ventricular preexcitation is most often associated with Ebstein anomaly,^{15,104,135–137} seen in as many as $44\%,^{136}$ but has also been described in patients with $\ensuremath{\text{D-}}$ TGA,¹³⁷ L-TGA,¹⁵ pulmonary atresia/intact ventricular septum,¹⁰⁴ patent ductus arteriosus,¹⁵ parachute mitral valve,¹⁰⁴ tetralogy of Fallot,¹³⁷ total anomalous pulmonary venous return,¹³⁷ and a ventricular septal defect.¹⁰⁴ As one might suspect, AV reentrant tachycardia in the presence of CHD is more likely to be hemodynamically unstable,104 prompting early antiarrhythmic therapy or ablation. However, in a study of adult and pediatric WPW patients, comparing those with and without Ebstein anomaly, no significant difference was seen concerning preablation arrhythmias, antiarrhythmic drugs, cardiac arrest, documented AV reentrant tachycardia, or AF.¹³⁵ There is also a higher risk of atrial arrhythmias in patients with Ebstein anomaly of the tricuspid valve, which, in the presence of ventricular preexcitation, places the patient at a potentially higher risk of lethal ventricular arrhythmias. Finally, in patients who undergo staged palliation for CHD having single ventricle physiology, intracardiac access is limited after the bidirectional Glenn stage. Due to the concerns of poorly tolerated SVT in patients with WPW and CHD, several authors have proposed preoperative invasive testing and ablation to prevent perioperative or postoperative compromise.^{104,137}

The small amount of invasive data available on WPW and CHD are primarily from patients with Ebstein anomaly. Most accessory pathways in this disease are right-sided, and many patients have multiple pathways.^{104,135–137} In a retrospective study comparing WPW patients with and without Ebstein anomaly, those with Ebstein anomaly had significantly longer AV reentrant cycle lengths (359 vs 310 ms), but no difference was seen in the shortest preexcited complexes during AF (215 vs 218 ms).¹³⁵ Early data (1998) from the Pediatric RF Ablation Registry of 65 patients with Ebstein anomaly undergoing RFA reported acute success rates and recurrence rates for right free wall, right septal, and other locations of 79%/32%, 89%/29%, and 75%/27%. Multiple pathways were observed in 49% of patients, and a relatively large percentage (22%) were ablated for life-threatening arrhythmias.¹³⁸

In addition to structural congenital heart defects, ventricular preexcitation has also been described in cardiomyopathy patients.^{22,23,139–141} Several gene mutations have been associated with ventricular preexcitation, including PRKAG2^{140,141} and AMPK.²² Most of these cardiomyopathies appear to be hypertrophic and progressive but, as opposed to the traditional myocardial disarray seen in sarcomeric protein hypertrophic cardiomyopathy abnormalities, the hypertrophy associated with ventricular preexcitation appears to be secondary to intracellular accumulation of glycogen, as in the case of AMPK, amylopectin.²² It is not entirely clear whether the ventricular preexcitation seen in the PRKAG2 and AMPK mutations is mediated by an accessory pathway, but arrhythmias are common and include sinus node dysfunction, AF, accelerated AV nodal conduction, and AV block. SCD is well described in this patient population, but the correlation of sudden death with ventricular preexcitation is similarly unclear.

8.2. Asymptomatic WPW and attention-deficit/ hyperactivity disorder

Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) is the most common neurobehavioral disorder in childhood.¹⁴² Stimulant medications are an important component of the treatment plan for patients with ADHD.¹⁴³ With the high prevalence of ADHD within the pediatric population, a significant number of patients with WPW will likely be candidates for treatment with ADHD medications. Although this writing committee does not advocate electrocardiographically screening patients starting treatment with stimulants, if patients starting treatment with stimulants are screened electrocardiographically, it will increase identification of asymptomatic patients with a WPW ECG pattern.

ADHD medications increase the heart rate on average 1 to 2 bpm and the systolic blood pressure 3-4 mm Hg.144 Although statistically significant, the clinical implications of these changes in heart rate and blood pressure are minimal in most patients, while some will have larger changes that may need to be addressed. In a study of 584 children on Adderall XR, no clinically significant changes in mean ECG parameters were observed over the duration of the study. Further, in all cases where abnormalities occurred, the findings were deemed harmless, clinically insignificant, or normal by pediatric cardiologists.¹⁴⁵ Although a number of case reports of sudden death in patients taking ADHD medications and structural cardiac abnormalities or a family history of ventricular arrhythmias were identified by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA), there are currently no specific reports of SCD in patients with WPW receiving ADHD medications (http://www.fda.gov/ohrms/dockets/ac/ 06/briefing/2006-4210b-index.htm).

Further, the FDA Adverse Event Reporting System reported rates of sudden deaths from 1992-2004 less than the background rates of sudden death reported in the literature for both adults and children. Although the FDA concluded there was no evidence that adverse cardiac events in patients on methylphenidate-based stimulants were causally related to the treatment, the recommendation was made to label all ADHD medications with the following warning: "children with structural heart defects, cardiomyopathy, or heart rhythm disturbances may be at risk for adverse cardiac events including sudden death." In a recent population-based cohort multicenter study of young and middle-aged adults during 806,182 person-years of follow-up, the use of ADHD medications was not associated with an increased risk of serious cardiovascular events.¹⁴⁶ Although there are theoretical concerns about using ADHD medications in the presence of WPW, there is no definitive evidence to support an increased risk of cardiac events, and ADHD medications may be administered to patients with a WPW ECG pattern with close observation for the development of symptoms.

8.3. WPW and sports participation

Preparticipation assessment of athletes at various levels, including high school, can include an ECG and thus a diagnosis of WPW is sometimes made in this context. The use of the screening ECG for a variety of potentially life-threatening conditions varies between 80% and 100% among the four major professional U.S. sports teams, a strategy that is similar to the routinely used national Italian preparticipation screening program for competitive athletes.^{147,148} Standardization and understanding as to how national and major league affiliates address specific ECG abnormalities are unclear. In a survey of >4000 professional athletes, less than 20 individuals (mostly patients who had hypertrophic cardiomyopathy with WPW) were disqualified over a 15-year period.¹⁴⁷

WPW syndrome accounted for approximately 1% of deaths in a long-term registry of sudden death in athletes.¹⁴⁹ However, it is not known whether these were asymptom-

atic individuals by definition. While many of the cases of SCD with WPW have an association with exercise,¹⁵⁰ training does not alter the EP properties in WPW.¹⁵¹ Based on the 36th Bethesda Conference, risk stratification with an EP study is advisable in asymptomatic athletes engaged in moderate- to high-level competitive sports.¹⁵² This is in contrast to a slightly more aggressive statement from the European Society of Cardiology, which mandates that all athletes with WPW undergo comprehensive risk assessment including an EP study.¹⁵³ Assessment of the risk profile in these athletes include the SPERRI <240 ms in AF or <220 ms during stress or isoproterenol, presence of multiple accessory pathways, or easily inducible AF.¹⁵³ While ablation has generally been recommended in asymptomatic athletes with WPW, for those individuals refusing ablation or those with a parahisian location, competitive sports may be allowed if none of the aforementioned EP risk factors are present. While there are currently differences between the European and American Cardiology Societies recommendations in the management of asymptomatic athletes with a WPW ECG pattern, the discovery of ventricular preexcitation in an adolescent, regardless of athletic status, should prompt referral to a specialist with expertise in pediatric electrophysiology to initiate the process of risk stratification, as detailed in this document.

9. Recommendations for young asymptomatic patients (8–21 years) with WPW ECG pattern^{Υ ,2}

- An exercise stress test, when the child is old enough to comply, is a reasonable component of the evaluation if the ambulatory ECG exhibits persistent preexcitation (Class IIA, Levels of Evidence B/C). In patients with clear and abrupt loss of preexcitation at physiological heart rates, the accessory pathway properties pose a lower risk of sudden death. In children with subtle preexcitation the ECG and exercise test may be difficult to interpret.
- 2. Utilization of invasive risk stratification (transesophageal or intracardiac) to assess the shortest preexcited R-R interval in atrial fibrillation is reasonable in individuals whose noninvasive testing does not demonstrate clear and abrupt loss of preexcitation (Class IIA, Levels of Evidence B/C).²
- Young patients with a SPERRI ≤250 ms in atrial fibrillation are at increased risk for SCD. It is reasonable to consider catheter ablation in this group, taking into account the procedural risk factors based on the anatomical location of the pathway (Class IIA, Levels of Evidence B/C).²
- 4. Young patients with a SPERRI >250 ms in atrial fibrillation are at lower risk for SCD, and it is reasonable to

^rChildren ages 5–8 years may be placed in the "younger-observe" or "older-assess risk" categories based on provider preference and the specifics of the individual patient and his/her family.

²In the absence of inducible atrial fibrillation, the shortest pre-excited RR interval determined by rapid atrial pacing is a reasonable surrogate.

defer ablation (Class IIA, Level of Evidence C). Ablation may be considered in these patients at the time of diagnostic study if the location of the pathway and/or patient characteristics do not suggest that ablation may incur an increased risk of adverse events, such as AV block or coronary artery injury (Class IIB, Level of Evidence C).²

- 5. Young patients deemed to be at low risk might subsequently develop cardiovascular symptoms such as syncope or palpitations. These patients should then be considered symptomatic and may be eligible for catheter ablation procedures regardless of the prior assessment.
- 6. Asymptomatic patients with a WPW ECG pattern and structural heart disease are at risk for both atrial tachycardia and AV reciprocating tachycardia, which may result in unfavorable hemodynamics. Ablation may be considered

regardless of the anterograde characteristics of the accessory pathway (Class IIB, Level of Evidence C).

- 7. Asymptomatic patients with a WPW ECG pattern and ventricular dysfunction secondary to dyssynchronous contractions may be considered for ablation, regardless of anterograde characteristics of the bypass tract (Class IIB, Level of Evidence C).
- Asymptomatic patients with a WPW ECG pattern may be prescribed ADHD medications. This recommendation follows the American Heart Association Guidelines, which state that ADHD medications may be used in this setting after cardiac evaluation and with intermittent monitoring and supervision of a pediatric cardiologist.¹⁵⁴

9.1. Management algorithm



* patients unable to perform an exercise stress test should undergo risk-stratification with an EP study

 Δ prior to invasive testing, patients and the parents/guardians should be counseled to discuss the risks and benefits of proceeding with invasive studies, risks of observation only, and risks of medication strategy.

[†] patients participating at moderate-high level competitive sports should be counseled with regards to risk-benefit of ablation (Class IIA) and follow the 36th Bethesda Conference Guidelines⁶

[¶] in the absence of inducible atrial fibrillation, the shortest pre-excited RR interval determined by rapid atrial pacing is a reasonable surrogate

10. References

- Wolff LPJ, White PD. Bundle-branch block with short PR interval in healthy young people to paroxysmal tachycardia. Am Heart J 1930;6:685–704.
- Montoya PT, Brugada P, Smeets J, Talajic M, Della Bella P, Lezaun R, vd Dool A, Wellens HJ, Bayes de Luna A, Oter R, et al. Ventricular fibrillation in the Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome. Eur Heart J 1991;12:144–150.
- Timmermans C, Smeets JL, Rodriguez LM, Vrouchos G, van den Dool A, Wellens HJ. Aborted sudden death in the Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome. Am J Cardiol 1995;76:492–494.
- Klein GJ, Bashore TM, Sellers TD, Pritchett EL, Smith WM, Gallagher JJ. Ventricular fibrillation in the Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome. N Engl J Med 1979;301:1080–1085.
- Friedman RA, Walsh EP, Silka MJ, Calkins H, Stevenson WG, Rhodes LA, Deal BJ, Wolff GS, Demaso DR, Hanisch D, Van Hare GF. NASPE Expert Consensus Conference: Radiofrequency catheter ablation in children with and without congenital heart disease. Report of the writing committee. North American Society of Pacing and Electrophysiology. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 2002;25:1000–1017.
- Zipes DP, Ackerman MJ, Estes NA 3rd, Grant AO, Myerburg RJ, Van Hare G. Task Force 7: arrhythmias. J Am Coll Cardiol 2005;45:1354–1363.
- Guize L, Soria R, Chaouat JC, Chretien JM, Houe D, Le Heuzey JY. [Prevalence and course of Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome in a population of 138,048 subjects]. Ann Med Interne (Paris) 1985;136:474–478.
- Hiss RG, Lamb LE. Electrocardiographic findings in 122,043 individuals. Circulation 1962;25:947–961.
- Swiderski J, Lees MH, Nadas AS. The Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome in infancy and childhood. Br Heart J 1962;24:561–580.
- Averill KH, Fosmoe RJ, Lamb LE. Electrocardiographic findings in 67,375 asymptomatic subjects. IV. Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome. Am J Cardiol 1960;6:108–129.
- 11. Davidoff R, Schamroth CL, Myburgh DP. The Wolff-Parkinson-White pattern in health aircrew. Aviat Space Environ Med 1981;52:554–558.
- Hejtmancik MR, Herrmann GR. The electrocardiographic syndrome of short P-R interval and broad QRS complexes; a clinical study of 80 cases. Am Heart J 1957;54:708–721.
- Manning GW. An electrocardiographic study of 17,000 fit, young Royal Canadian Air Force aircrew applicants. Am J Cardiol 1960;6:70–75.
- Vidaillet HJ Jr, Pressley JC, Henke E, Harrell FE Jr, German LD. Familial occurrence of accessory atrioventricular pathways (preexcitation syndrome). N Engl J Med 1987;317:65–69.
- Deal BJ, Keane JF, Gillette PC, Garson A Jr. Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome and supraventricular tachycardia during infancy: management and follow-up. J Am Coll Cardiol 1985;5:130–135.
- Goudevenos JA, Katsouras CS, Graekas G, Argiri O, Giogiakas V, Sideris DA. Ventricular pre-excitation in the general population: a study on the mode of presentation and clinical course. Heart 2000;83:29–34.
- Munger TM, Packer DL, Hammill SC, Feldman BJ, Bailey KR, Ballard DJ, Holmes DR Jr, Gersh BJ. A population study of the natural history of Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome in Olmsted County, Minnesota, 1953–1989. Circulation 1993;87:866–873.
- Becquart J, Vaksmann G, Becquart V, Dupuis C. [Prognosis of Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome in infants. Apropos of 31 cases]. Arch Mal Coeur Vaiss 1988;81:695–700.
- Soria R, Guize L, Chretien JM, Le Heuzey JY, Lavergne T, Desnos M, Hagege A, Guerre Y. [The natural history of 270 cases of Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome in a survey of the general population]. Arch Mal Coeur Vaiss 1989;82:331–336.
- Perry JC, Garson A Jr. Supraventricular tachycardia due to Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome in children: early disappearance and late recurrence. J Am Coll Cardiol 1990;16:1215–1220.
- Kolditz DP, Wijffels MC, Blom NA, van der Laarse A, Markwald RR, Schalij MJ, Gittenberger-de Groot AC. Persistence of functional atrioventricular accessory pathways in postseptated embryonic avian hearts: implications for morphogenesis and functional maturation of the cardiac conduction system. Circulation 2007;115:17–26.
- 22. Murphy RT, Mogensen J, McGarry K, Bahl A, Evans A, Osman E, Syrris P, Gorman G, Farrell M, Holton JL, Hanna MG, Hughes S, Elliott PM, Macrae CA, McKenna WJ. Adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase disease mimicks hypertrophic cardiomyopathy and Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome: natural history. J Am Coll Cardiol 2005;45:922–930.
- Ghosh S, Avari JN, Rhee EK, Woodard PK, Rudy Y. Hypertrophic cardiomyopathy with preexcitation: insights from noninvasive electrocardiographic imaging (ECGI) and catheter mapping. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2008;19:1215–1217.
- Arad M, Maron BJ, Gorham JM, Johnson WH Jr, Saul JP, Perez-Atayde AR, Spirito P, Wright GB, Kanter RJ, Seidman CE, Seidman JG. Glycogen storage

diseases presenting as hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. N Engl J Med 2005;352:362–372.

- Maron BJ, Roberts WC, Arad M, Haas TS, Spirito P, Wright GB, Almquist AK, Baffa JM, Saul JP, Ho CY, Seidman J, Seidman CE. Clinical outcome and phenotypic expression in LAMP2 cardiomyopathy. JAMA 2009;301:1253– 1259.
- Benson DW Jr, Dunnigan A, Benditt DG. Follow-up evaluation of infant paroxysmal atrial tachycardia: transesophageal study. Circulation 1987;75: 542–549.
- Fan W, Peter CT, Gang ES, Mandel W. Age-related changes in the clinical and electrophysiologic characteristics of patients with Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome: comparative study between young and elderly patients. Am Heart J 1991;122:741–747.
- Klein GJ, Yee R, Sharma AD. Longitudinal electrophysiologic assessment of asymptomatic patients with the Wolff-Parkinson-White electrocardiographic pattern. N Engl J Med 1989;320:1229–1233.
- Santinelli V, Radinovic A, Manguso F, Vicedomini G, Gulletta S, Paglino G, Mazzone P, Ciconte G, Sacchi S, Sala S, Pappone C. The natural history of asymptomatic ventricular pre-excitation a long-term prospective follow-up study of 184 asymptomatic children. J Am Coll Cardiol 2009;53: 275–280.
- Sarubbi B, Scognamiglio G, Limongelli G, Mercurio B, Pacileo G, Pisacane C, Russo MG, Calabro R. Asymptomatic ventricular pre-excitation in children and adolescents: a 15 year follow up study. Heart 2003;89:215–217.
- Emmel M, Balaji S, Sreeram N. Ventricular preexcitation associated with dilated cardiomyopathy: a causal relationship? Cardiol Young 2004;14:594– 599.
- Tomaske M, Janousek J, Razek V, Gebauer RA, Tomek V, Hindricks G, Knirsch W, Bauersfeld U. Adverse effects of Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome with right septal or posteroseptal accessory pathways on cardiac function. Europace 2008;10:181–189.
- Dreifus LS, Haiat R, Watanabe Y, Arriaga J, Reitman N. Ventricular fibrillation. A possible mechanism of sudden death in patients and Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome. Circulation 1971;43:520–527.
- Topaz O, Perin E, Cox M, Mallon SM, Castellanos A, Myerburg RJ. Young adult survivors of sudden cardiac arrest: analysis of invasive evaluation of 22 subjects. Am Heart J 1989;118:281–287.
- Russell MW DP, Dick MD. Incidence of catastrophic events associated with the Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome in young patients: diagnostic and therapeutic dilemma. Circulation 1993;1993:484(a).
- Deal BJ DM, Beerman L, Silka M, Walsh EP, Klitzner T, Kugler J. Cardiac arrest in young patients with Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 1995;18:815(a).
- Bromberg BI, Lindsay BD, Cain ME, Cox JL. Impact of clinical history and electrophysiologic characterization of accessory pathways on management strategies to reduce sudden death among children with Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome. J Am Coll Cardiol 1996;27:690–695.
- 38. Pappone C, Santinelli V, Rosanio S, Vicedomini G, Nardi S, Pappone A, Tortoriello V, Manguso F, Mazzone P, Gulletta S, Oreto G, Alfieri O. Usefulness of invasive electrophysiologic testing to stratify the risk of arrhythmic events in asymptomatic patients with Wolff-Parkinson-White pattern: results from a large prospective long-term follow-up study. J Am Coll Cardiol 2003; 41:239–244.
- Fukatani M, Tanigawa M, Mori M, Konoe A, Kadena M, Shimizu A, Hashiba K. Prediction of a fatal atrial fibrillation in patients with asymptomatic Wolff-Parkinson-White pattern. Jpn Circ J 1990;54:1331–1339.
- Pietersen AH, Andersen ED, Sandoe E. Atrial fibrillation in the Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome. Am J Cardiol 1992;70:38A–43A.
- 41. Brembilla-Perrot B, Moejezi RV, Zinzius PY, Jarmouni S, Schwartz J, Beurrier D, Sellal JM, Nossier I, Muresan L, Andronache M, Moisei R, Selton O, Louis P, de la Chaise AT. Missing diagnosis of preexcitation syndrome on ECG Clinical and electrophysiological significance. Int J Cardiol 2011;[Epub ahead of print]. Int J Cardiol 2011 June 23.
- 42. Smith WM, Gallagher JJ, Kerr CR, Sealy WC, Kasell JH, Benson DW Jr, Reiter MJ, Sterba R, Grant AO. The electrophysiologic basis and management of symptomatic recurrent tachycardia in patients with Ebstein's anomaly of the tricuspid valve. Am J Cardiol 1982;49:1223–1234.
- Klein GJ, Gulamhusein SS. Intermittent preexcitation in the Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome. Am J Cardiol 1983;52:292–296.
- Kinoshita S, Konishi G, Kinoshita Y. Mechanism of intermittent preexcitation in the Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome. The concept of electronically mediated conduction across an inexcitable gap. Chest 1990;98:1279–1281.
- Middlekauff HR, Stevenson WG, Klitzner TS. Linking: a mechanism of intermittent preexcitation in the Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 1990;13:1629–1636.

- Morgan-Hughes NJ, Griffith MJ, McComb JM. Intravenous adenosine reveals intermittent preexcitation by direct and indirect effects on accessory pathway conduction. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 1993;16:2098–2103.
- Hindman MC, Last JH, Rosen KM. Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome observed by portable monitoring. Ann Intern Med 1973;79:654–663.
- Milstein S, Sharma AD, Klein GJ. Electrophysiologic profile of asymptomatic Wolff-Parkinson-White pattern. Am J Cardiol 1986;57:1097–1100.
- Fitzsimmons PJ, McWhirter PD, Peterson DW, Kruyer WB. The natural history of Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome in 228 military aviators: a longterm follow-up of 22 years. Am Heart J 2001;142:530–536.
- Pappone C, Manguso F, Santinelli R, Vicedomini G, Sala S, Paglino G, Mazzone P, Lang CC, Gulletta S, Augello G, Santinelli O, Santinelli V. Radiofrequency ablation in children with asymptomatic Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome. N Engl J Med 2004;351:1197–1205.
- Weng KP, Wolff GS, Young ML. Multiple accessory pathways in pediatric patients with Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome. Am J Cardiol 2003;91:1178– 1183.
- Bardy GH, Packer DL, German LD, Gallagher JJ. Preexcited reciprocating tachycardia in patients with Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome: incidence and mechanisms. Circulation 1984;70:377–391.
- Sarubbi B, D'Alto M, Vergara P, Calvanese R, Mercurio B, Russo MG, Calabro R. Electrophysiological evaluation of asymptomatic ventricular preexcitation in children and adolescents. Int J Cardiol 2005;98:207–214.
- Gaita F, Giustetto C, Riccardi R, Mangiardi L, Brusca A. Stress and pharmacologic tests as methods to identify patients with Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome at risk of sudden death. Am J Cardiol 1989;64:487–490.
- Sharma AD, Yee R, Guiraudon G, Klein GJ. Sensitivity and specificity of invasive and noninvasive testing for risk of sudden death in Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome. J Am Coll Cardiol 1987;10:373–381.
- Wellens HJ, Bar FW, Gorgels AP, Vanagt EJ. Use of ajmaline in patients with the Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome to disclose short refractory period of the accessory pathway. Am J Cardiol 1980;45:130–133.
- Wellens HJ, Braat S, Brugada P, Gorgels AP, Bar FW. Use of procainamide in patients with the Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome to disclose a short refractory period of the accessory pathway. Am J Cardiol 1982;50:1087–1089.
- Bricker JT, Porter CJ, Garson A Jr, Gillette PC, McVey P, Traweek M, McNamara DG. Exercise testing in children with Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome. Am J Cardiol 1985;55:1001–1004.
- Perry JC, Giuffre RM, Garson A Jr. Clues to the electrocardiographic diagnosis of subtle Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome in children. J Pediatr 1990;117: 871–875.
- Daubert C, Ollitrault J, Descaves C, Mabo P, Ritter P, Gouffault J. Failure of the exercise test to predict the anterograde refractory period of the accessory pathway in Wolff Parkinson White syndrome. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 1988;11:1130–1138.
- Bershader RS BC, Cecchin F. Exercise testing for risk assessment in pediatric Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome. Heart Rhythm 2007;4:S138–S139.
- Chimienti M, Li Bergolis M, Moizi M, Klersy C, Negroni MS, Salerno JA. Comparison of isoproterenol and exercise tests in asymptomatic subjects with Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 1992;15:1158– 1166.
- Pappone C, Radinovic A, Santinelli V. Sudden death and ventricular preexcitation: is it necessary to treat the asymptomatic patients? Curr Pharm Des 2008;14:762–765.
- Campbell RM, Strieper MJ, Frias PA, Collins KK, Van Hare GF, Dubin AM. Survey of current practice of pediatric electrophysiologists for asymptomatic Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome. Pediatrics 2003;111:e245–e247.
- 65. Brembilla-Perrot B, Chometon F, Groben L, Ammar S, Bertrand J, Marcha C, Cloez JL, Tisserand A, Huttin O, Tatar C, Duhoux F, Yangni N'da O, Beurrier D, Terrier de Chaise A, Zhang N, Abbas M, Cedano J, Marcon F. Interest of non-invasive and semi-invasive testings in asymptomatic children with preexcitation syndrome. Europace 2007;9:837–843.
- Favale S, Minafra F, Massari V, Tritto M, Rizzon P. Transesophageal versus intracardiac atrial stimulation in assessing anterograde conduction properties of the accessory pathway in Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome. Int J Cardiol 1991;30:209–214.
- Yamamoto T, Yeh SJ, Lin FC, Wu DL. Effects of isoproterenol on accessory pathway conduction in intermittent or concealed Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome. Am J Cardiol 1990;65:1438–1442.
- Rinne C, Klein GJ, Sharma AD, Yee R, Milstein S, Rattes MF. Relation between clinical presentation and induced arrhythmias in the Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome. Am J Cardiol 1987;60:576–579.
- Teo WS, Klein GJ, Guiraudon GM, Yee R, Leitch JW, McLellan D, Leather RA, Kim YH. Multiple accessory pathways in the Wolff-Parkinson-White

syndrome as a risk factor for ventricular fibrillation. Am J Cardiol 1991;67:889-891.

- Iesaka Y, Yamane T, Takahashi A, Goya M, Kojima S, Soejima Y, Okamoto Y, Fujiwara H, Aonuma K, Nogami A, Hiroe M, Marumo F, Hiraoka M. Retrograde multiple and multifiber accessory pathway conduction in the Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome: potential precipitating factor of atrial fibrillation. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 1998;9:141–151.
- Priori SG, Aliot E, Blomstrom-Lundqvist C, Bossaert L, Breithardt G, Brugada P, Camm AJ, Cappato R, Cobbe SM, Di Mario C, Maron BJ, McKenna WJ, Pedersen AK, Ravens U, Schwartz PJ, Trusz-Gluza M, Vardas P, Wellens HJ, Zipes DP. Task Force on Sudden Cardiac Death of the European Society of Cardiology. Eur Heart J 2001;22:1374–1450.
- 72. Blomstrom-Lundqvist C, Scheinman MM, Aliot EM, Alpert JS, Calkins H, Camm AJ, Campbell WB, Haines DE, Kuck KH, Lerman BB, Miller DD, Shaeffer CW Jr, Stevenson WG, Tomaselli GF, Antman EM, Smith SC Jr, Faxon DP, Fuster V, Gibbons RJ, Gregoratos G, Hiratzka LF, Hunt SA, Jacobs AK, Russell RO Jr, Priori SG, Blanc JJ, Budaj A, Burgos EF, Cowie M, Deckers JW, Garcia MA, Klein WW, Lekakis J, Lindahl B, Mazzotta G, Morais JC, Oto A, Smiseth O, Trappe HJ. ACC/AHA/ESC guidelines for the management of patients with supraventricular arrhythmias–executive summary: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines and the European Society of Cardiology Committee for Practice Guidelines (Writing Committee to Develop Guidelines for the Management of Patients With Supraventricular Arrhythmias). Circulation 2003;108:1871–1909.
- Paul T, Guccione P, Garson A Jr. Relation of syncope in young patients with Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome to rapid ventricular response during atrial fibrillation. Am J Cardiol 1990;65:318–321.
- Lee PC, Hwang B, Tai CT, Chiang CE, Yu WC, Chen SA. The different electrophysiological characteristics in children with Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome between those with and without atrial fibrillation. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 2004;27:235–239.
- Dubin AM, Collins KK, Chiesa N, Hanisch D, Van Hare GF. Use of electrophysiologic testing to assess risk in children with Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome. Cardiol Young 2002;12:248–252.
- Brembilla-Perrot B, Ghawi R. Electrophysiological characteristics of asymptomatic Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome. Eur Heart J 1993;14:511–515.
- Wellens HJ. Should catheter ablation be performed in asymptomatic patients with Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome? When to perform catheter ablation in asymptomatic patients with a Wolff-Parkinson-White electrocardiogram. Circulation 2005;112:2201–2207; discussion 2216.
- Drago F, Turchetta A, Calzolari A, Guccione P, Santilli A, Pompei E, Ragonese P, Galioto FM Jr. Detection of atrial vulnerability by transesophageal atrial pacing and the relation of symptoms in children with Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome and in a symptomatic control group. Am J Cardiol 1994;74: 400–401.
- Murdock CJ, Leitch JW, Teo WS, Sharma AD, Yee R, Klein GJ. Characteristics of accessory pathways exhibiting decremental conduction. Am J Cardiol 1991;67:506–510.
- Leitch JW, Klein GJ, Yee R, Murdock C. Prognostic value of electrophysiology testing in asymptomatic patients with Wolff-Parkinson-White pattern. Circulation 1990;82:1718–1723.
- Pappone C, Santinelli V. Should catheter ablation be performed in asymptomatic patients with Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome? Catheter ablation should be performed in asymptomatic patients with Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome. Circulation 2005;112:2207–2215; discussion 2216.
- Beckman KJ, Gallastegui JL, Bauman JL, Hariman RJ. The predictive value of electrophysiologic studies in untreated patients with Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome. J Am Coll Cardiol 1990;15:640–647.
- Delise P, D'Este D, Bonso A, Raviele A, Di Pede F, Millosevich P, Livio A, Piccolo E. [Different degrees of risk of high-frequency atrial fibrillation in symptomatic and asymptomatic WPW syndrome. Electrophysiologic evaluation]. G Ital Cardiol 1987;17:127–133.
- Bertaglia E DP, Coro L, Baso A, D'Este D, Rizzardo P, Raviele A, Pascotto P. Valore pronostico della valutzione electrofisiologica poliparametrica in giovanni sportive asintomiatici con syndrome di Wolff-Parkinson-White. Int J Sports Cardiol 1998;7:29–34.
- Szabo TS, Klein GJ, Sharma AD, Yee R, Milstein S. Usefulness of isoproterenol during atrial fibrillation in evaluation of asymptomatic Wolff-Parkinson-White pattern. Am J Cardiol 1989;63:187–192.
- Moore JP, Kannankeril PJ, Fish FA. Isoproterenol administration during general anesthesia for the evaluation of children with ventricular preexcitation. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2011;4:73–78.

- Fazio G, Mossuto C, Basile I, Gennaro F, D'Angelo L, Visconti C, Ferrara F, Novo G, Pipitone S, Novo S. Asymptomatic ventricular pre-excitation in children. J Cardiovasc Med (Hagerstown) 2009;10:59–63.
- Kulkarni S, Naidu R. Vascular ultrasound imaging to study immediate postcatheterization vascular complications in children. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 2006;68:450–455.
- Horowitz LN, Kay HR, Kutalek SP, Discigil KF, Webb CR, Greenspan AM, Spielman SR. Risks and complications of clinical cardiac electrophysiologic studies: a prospective analysis of 1,000 consecutive patients. J Am Coll Cardiol 1987;9:1261–1268.
- Dimarco JP, Garan H, Ruskin JN. Complications in patients undergoing cardiac electrophysiologic procedures. Ann Intern Med 1982;97:490–493.
- Brembilla-Perrot B, Dechaux JP. Ventricular fibrillation induced by transesophageal atrial pacing in asymptomatic Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome. Am Heart J 1992;123:536–567.
- Kugler JD, Danford DA, Deal BJ, Gillette PC, Perry JC, Silka MJ, Van Hare GF, Walsh EP. Radiofrequency catheter ablation for tachyarrhythmias in children and adolescents. The Pediatric Electrophysiology Society. N Engl J Med 1994;330:1481–1487.
- Van Hare GF, Javitz H, Carmelli D, Saul JP, Tanel RE, Fischbach PS, Kanter RJ, Schaffer M, Dunnigan A, Colan S, Serwer G. Prospective assessment after pediatric cardiac ablation: demographics, medical profiles, and initial outcomes. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2004;15:759–770.
- Kugler JD, Danford DA, Houston K, Felix G. Radiofrequency catheter ablation for paroxysmal supraventricular tachycardia in children and adolescents without structural heart disease. Pediatric EP Society, Radiofrequency Catheter Ablation Registry. Am J Cardiol 1997;80:1438–1443.
- Kugler JD, Danford DA, Houston KA, Felix G. Pediatric radiofrequency catheter ablation registry success, fluoroscopy time, and complication rate for supraventricular tachycardia: comparison of early and recent eras. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2002;13:336–341.
- Van Hare GF, Javitz H, Carmelli D, Saul JP, Tanel RE, Fischbach PS, Kanter RJ, Schaffer M, Dunnigan A, Colan S, Serwer G. Prospective assessment after pediatric cardiac ablation: recurrence at 1 year after initially successful ablation of supraventricular tachycardia. Heart Rhythm 2004;1:188–196.
- Belhassen B, Rogowski O, Glick A, Viskin S, Ilan M, Rosso R, Eldar M. Radiofrequency ablation of accessory pathways: a 14 year experience at the Tel Aviv Medical Center in 508 patients. Isr Med Assoc J 2007;9:265–270.
- Dick M 2nd, O'Connor BK, Serwer GA, LeRoy S, Armstrong B. Use of radiofrequency current to ablate accessory connections in children. Circulation 1991;84:2318–2324.
- Van Hare GF, Lesh MD, Scheinman M, Langberg JJ. Percutaneous radiofrequency catheter ablation for supraventricular arrhythmias in children. J Am Coll Cardiol 1991;17:1613–1620.
- Tanel RE, Walsh EP, Triedman JK, Epstein MR, Bergau DM, Saul JP. Fiveyear experience with radiofrequency catheter ablation: implications for management of arrhythmias in pediatric and young adult patients. J Pediatr 1997; 131:878-887.
- Lee PC, Hwang B, Chen YJ, Tai CT, Chen SA, Chiang CE. Electrophysiologic characteristics and radiofrequency catheter ablation in children with Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 2006;29:490–495.
- Celiker A, Kafali G, Karagoz T, Ceviz N, Ozer S. The results of electrophysiological study and radio-frequency catheter ablation in pediatric patients with tachyarrhythmia. Turk J Pediatr 2003;45:209–216.
- 103. Montenero AS, Drago F, Crea F, Varano C, Guarneri S, Cipriani A, Pelargonio G, Agostino DA, Bellocci F, Ragonese P, Zecchi P. [Transcatheter radiofrequency ablation in supraventricular tachycardia in children: immediate results and mid-term follow-up]. G Ital Cardiol 1996;26:31–40.
- Van Hare GF, Lesh MD, Stanger P. Radiofrequency catheter ablation of supraventricular arrhythmias in patients with congenital heart disease: results and technical considerations. J Am Coll Cardiol 1993;22:883–890.
- Hebe J, Antz M, Siebels J, Volkmer M, Ouyang F, Kuck KH. [High frequency current ablation of supraventricular tachyarrhythmias in congenital heart defects]. Herz 1998;23:231–250.
- 106. Blaufox AD, Felix GL, Saul JP. Radiofrequency catheter ablation in infants </=18 months old: when is it done and how do they fare?: short-term data from the pediatric ablation registry. Circulation 2001;104:280328-8.
- 107. Collins KK, Rhee EK, Kirsh JA, Cannon BC, Fish FA, Dubin AM, Van Hare GF. Cryoablation of accessory pathways in the coronary sinus in young patients: a multicenter study from the Pediatric and Congenital Electrophysiology Society's Working Group on Cryoablation. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2007;18:592–597.
- Kirsh JA, Gross GJ, O'Connor S, Hamilton RM. Transcatheter cryoablation of tachyarrhythmias in children: initial experience from an international registry. J Am Coll Cardiol 2005;45:133–136.

- Kriebel T, Broistedt C, Kroll M, Sigler M, Paul T. Efficacy and safety of cryoenergy in the ablation of atrioventricular reentrant tachycardia substrates in children and adolescents. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2005;16:960–966.
- Bar-Cohen Y, Cecchin F, Alexander ME, Berul CI, Triedman JK, Walsh EP. Cryoablation for accessory pathways located near normal conduction tissues or within the coronary venous system in children and young adults. Heart Rhythm 2006;3:253–258.
- Tuzcu V. Cryoablation of accessory pathways in children. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 2007;30:1129–1135.
- 112. Avari JN, Jay KS, Rhee EK. Experience and results during transition from radiofrequency ablation to cryoablation for treatment of pediatric atrioventricular nodal reentrant tachycardia. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 2008;31:454–460.
- 113. Atienza F, Arenal A, Torrecilla EG, Garcia-Alberola A, Jimenez J, Ortiz M, Puchol A, Almendral J. Acute and long-term outcome of transvenous cryoablation of midseptal and parahissian accessory pathways in patients at high risk of atrioventricular block during radiofrequency ablation. Am J Cardiol 2004; 93:1302–1305.
- 114. Drago F, Silvetti MS, De Santis A, Grutter G, Andrew P. Lengthier cryoablation and a bonus cryoapplication is associated with improved efficacy for cryothermal catheter ablation of supraventricular tachycardias in children. J Interv Card Electrophysiol 2006;16:191–198.
- Gist KM, Bockoven JR, Lane J, Smith G, Clark JM. Acute success of cryoablation of left-sided accessory pathways: a single institution study. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2009;20:637–642.
- 116. Sacher F, Wright M, Tedrow UB, O'Neill MD, Jais P, Hocini M, Macdonald R, Davies DW, Kanagaratnam P, Derval N, Epstein L, Peters NS, Stevenson WG, Haissaguerre M. Wolff-Parkinson-White ablation after a prior failure: a 7-year multicentre experience. Europace 2010;12:835–841.
- 117. Manolis AS, Melita-Manolis H, Vassilikos V, Maounis T, Chiladakis J, Christopoulou-Cokkinou V, Cokkinos DV. Thrombogenicity of radiofrequency lesions: results with serial D-dimer determinations. J Am Coll Cardiol 1996;28: 1257–1261.
- 118. Lee DS, Dorian P, Downar E, Burns M, Yeo EL, Gold WL, Paquette M, Lau W, Newman DM. Thrombogenicity of radiofrequency ablation procedures: what factors influence thrombin generation? Europace 2001;3:195–200.
- Khairy P, Chauvet P, Lehmann J, Lambert J, Macle L, Tanguay JF, Sirois MG, Santoianni D, Dubuc M. Lower incidence of thrombus formation with cryoenergy versus radiofrequency catheter ablation. Circulation 2003;107:2045– 2050.
- Zhou L, Keane D, Reed G, Ruskin J. Thromboembolic complications of cardiac radiofrequency catheter ablation: a review of the reported incidence, pathogenesis and current research directions. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 1999;10:611–620.
- Epstein MR, Knapp LD, Martindill M, Lulu JA, Triedman JK, Calkins H, Huang SK, Walsh EP, Saul JP. Embolic complications associated with radiofrequency catheter ablation. Atakr Investigator Group. Am J Cardiol 1996;77: 655–658.
- Blaufox AD, Paul T, Saul JP. Radiofrequency catheter ablation in small children: relationship of complications to application dose. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 2004;27:224–229.
- 123. Bertram H, Bokenkamp R, Peuster M, Hausdorf G, Paul T. Coronary artery stenosis after radiofrequency catheter ablation of accessory atrioventricular pathways in children with Ebstein's malformation. Circulation 2001;103:538–543.
- Paul T, Bokenkamp R, Mahnert B, Trappe HJ. Coronary artery involvement early and late after radiofrequency current application in young pigs. Am Heart J 1997;133:436–440.
- Chatelain P, Zimmermann M, Weber R, Campanini C, Adamec R. Acute coronary occlusion secondary to radiofrequency catheter ablation of a left lateral accessory pathway. Eur Heart J 1995;16:859–861.
- Khanal S, Ribeiro PA, Platt M, Kuhn MA. Right coronary artery occlusion as a complication of accessory pathway ablation in a 12-year-old treated with stenting. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 1999;46:59–61.
- Benito F, Sanchez C. Radiofrequency catheter ablation of accessory pathways in infants. Heart 1997;78:160–162.
- Solomon AJ, Tracy CM, Swartz JF, Reagan KM, Karasik PE, Fletcher RD. Effect on coronary artery anatomy of radiofrequency catheter ablation of atrial insertion sites of accessory pathways. J Am Coll Cardiol 1993;21:1440–1444.
- 129. Calkins H, Langberg J, Sousa J, el-Atassi R, Leon A, Kou W, Kalbfleisch S, Morady F. Radiofrequency catheter ablation of accessory atrioventricular connections in 250 patients. Abbreviated therapeutic approach to Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome. Circulation 1992;85:1337–1346.
- Bokenkamp R, Wibbelt G, Sturm M, Windhagen-Mahnert B, Bertram H, Hausdorf G, Paul T. Effects of intracardiac radiofrequency current application on coronary artery vessels in young pigs. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2000; 11:565–571.

- 131. Aoyama H, Nakagawa H, Pitha JV, Khammar GS, Chandrasekaran K, Matsudaira K, Yagi T, Yokoyama K, Lazzara R, Jackman WM. Comparison of cryothermia and radiofrequency current in safety and efficacy of catheter ablation within the canine coronary sinus close to the left circumflex coronary artery. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2005;16:1218–1226.
- Schneider HE, Kriebel T, Gravenhorst VD, Paul T. Incidence of coronary artery injury immediately after catheter ablation for supraventricular tachycardias in infants and children. Heart Rhythm 2009;6:461–467.
- Al-Ammouri I, Perry JC. Proximity of coronary arteries to the atrioventricular valve annulus in young patients and implications for ablation procedures. Am J Cardiol 2006;97:1752–1755.
- Schaffer MS, Gow RM, Moak JP, Saul JP. Mortality following radiofrequency catheter ablation (from the Pediatric Radiofrequency Ablation Registry). Participating members of the Pediatric Electrophysiology Society. Am J Cardiol 2000;86:639–643.
- Pressley JC, Wharton JM, Tang AS, Lowe JE, Gallagher JJ, Prystowsky EN. Effect of Ebstein's anomaly on short- and long-term outcome of surgically treated patients with Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome. Circulation 1992;86: 1147–1155.
- Delhaas T, Sarvaas GJ, Rijlaarsdam ME, Strengers JL, Eveleigh RM, Poulino SE, de Korte CL, Kapusta L. A multicenter, long-term study on arrhythmias in children with Ebstein anomaly. Pediatr Cardiol 2010;31:229–233.
- Levine JC, Walsh EP, Saul JP. Radiofrequency ablation of accessory pathways associated with congenital heart disease including heterotaxy syndrome. Am J Cardiol 1993;72:689–693.
- Reich JD, Auld D, Hulse E, Sullivan K, Campbell R. The Pediatric Radiofrequency Ablation Registry's experience with Ebstein's anomaly. Pediatric Electrophysiology Society. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 1998;9:1370–1377.
- Sternick EB, Oliva A, Magalhaes LP, Gerken LM, Hong K, Santana O, Brugada P, Brugada J, Brugada R. Familial pseudo-Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2006;17:724–732.
- 140. Gollob MH, Seger JJ, Gollob TN, Tapscott T, Gonzales O, Bachinski L, Roberts R. Novel PRKAG2 mutation responsible for the genetic syndrome of ventricular preexcitation and conduction system disease with childhood onset and absence of cardiac hypertrophy. Circulation 2001;104:3030–3033.
- 141. Sternick EB, Rodriguez LM, Timmermans C, Sosa E, Cruz FE, Gerken LM, Fagundes M, Scanavacca M, Wellens HJ. Effects of right bundle branch block on the antidromic circus movement tachycardia in patients with presumed atriofascicular pathways. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2006;17:256–260.
- 142. Brown RT, Freeman WS, Perrin JM, Stein MT, Amler RW, Feldman HM, Pierce K, Wolraich ML. Prevalence and assessment of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder in primary care settings. Pediatrics 2001;107:E43.
- Clinical practice guideline: treatment of the school-aged child with attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder. Pediatrics 2001;108:1033–1044.
- 144. Samuels JA, Franco K, Wan F, Sorof JM. Effect of stimulants on 24-h ambulatory blood pressure in children with ADHD: a double-blind, randomized, cross-over trial. Pediatr Nephrol 2006;21:92–95.
- Biederman J, Lopez FA, Boellner SW, Chandler MC. A randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled, parallel-group study of SLI381 (Adderall XR) in children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Pediatrics 2002;110:258– 266.
- 146. Habel LA, Cooper WO, Sox CM, Chan KA, Fireman BH, Arbogast PG,

Cheetham TC, Quinn VP, Dublin S, Boudreau DM, Andrade SE, Pawloski PA, Raebel MA, Smith DH, Achacoso N, Uratsu C, Go AS, Sidney S, Nguyen-Huynh MN, Ray WA, Selby JV. ADHD medications and risk of serious cardiovascular events in young and middle-aged adults. JAMA 2011;306:2673–2683.

- Harris KM, Sponsel A, Hutter AM Jr, Maron BJ. Brief communication: cardiovascular screening practices of major North American professional sports teams. Ann Intern Med 2006;145:507–511.
- Corrado D, Basso C, Schiavon M, Thiene G. Screening for hypertrophic cardiomyopathy in young athletes. N Engl J Med 1998;339:364–369.
- 149. Maron BJ, Doerer JJ, Haas TS, Tierney DM, Mueller FO. Sudden deaths in young competitive athletes: analysis of 1866 deaths in the United States, 1980–2006. Circulation 2009;119:1085–1092.
- Wiedermann CJ, Becker AE, Hopferwieser T, Muhlberger V, Knapp E. Sudden death in a young competitive athlete with Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome. Eur Heart J 1987;8:651–655.
- 151. Mezzani A, Giovannini T, Michelucci A, Padeletti L, Resina A, Cupelli V, Musante R. Effects of training on the electrophysiologic properties of atrium and accessory pathway in athletes with Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome. Cardiology 1990;77:295–302.
- 152. Pelliccia A, Zipes DP, Maron BJ. Bethesda Conference #36 and the European Society of Cardiology Consensus Recommendations revisited a comparison of U.S. and European criteria for eligibility and disqualification of competitive athletes with cardiovascular abnormalities. J Am Coll Cardiol 2008;52:1990– 1996.
- 153. Corrado D, Pelliccia A, Bjornstad HH, Vanhees L, Biffi A, Borjesson M, Panhuyzen-Goedkoop N, Deligiannis A, Solberg E, Dugmore D, Mellwig KP, Assanelli D, Delise P, van-Buuren F, Anastasakis A, Heidbuchel H, Hoffmann E, Fagard R, Priori SG, Basso C, Arbustini E, Blomstrom-Lundqvist C, McKenna WJ, Thiene G. Cardiovascular pre-participation screening of young competitive athletes for prevention of sudden death: proposal for a common European protocol. Consensus Statement of the Study Group of Sport Cardiology of the Working Group of Cardiac Rehabilitation and Exercise Physiology and the Working Group of Myocardial and Pericardial Diseases of the European Society of Cardiology. Eur Heart J 2005;26:516–524.
- 154. Vetter VL, Elia J, Erickson C, Berger S, Blum N, Uzark K, Webb CL. Cardiovascular monitoring of children and adolescents with heart disease receiving medications for attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder [corrected]: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association Council on Cardiovascular Disease in the Young Congenital Cardiac Defects Committee and the Council on Cardiovascular Nursing. Circulation 2008;117:2407–2423.
- Berkman NL, Lamb LE. The Wolff–Parkinson–White Electrocardiogram. New England Journal of Medicine, 1968;278:492–494.
- 156. Inoue K, et al. Long-term prospective study on the natural history of Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome detected during a heart screening program at school. Acta Pædiatrica, 2000;89:542–545.
- 157. Satoh M, et al. Electrophysiologic evaluation of asymptomatic patients with the Wolff-Parkinson-White pattern. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol, 1989;12:413–420.
- Pappone, et al. A randomized study of catheter ablation in asymptomatic patients with the Wolff-Parkinson-White syndrome. NEJM 2003;349: 1803–1811.

Appendix

11. Author Disclosures

Writing Group	Employment	Consultant/Advisory Board	Speakers' Bureau/ Honoraria	Research Grant	Fellowship Support	Board Mbs/Stock Options/Partner	Others
Bryan Cannon	Mayo Clinic, Rochester, MN, USA	Medtronic (b) St. Jude Medical (b)	None	None	None	None	None
Mitchell Cohen	Arizona Pediatric Cardiology Consultants, Phoenix, AZ, USA	None	None	None	None	None	None
Andrew Davis	Royal Children's Hospital, Dept of Cardiology, Melbourne, AUSTRALIA	None	None	None	Medtronic (d) St. Jude Medical (d)	None	Medtronic (c) Salary
Fabrizio Drago	Bambino Gesu Hospital, Rome, ITALY	None	None	None	None	None	None
Jan Janousek	Kardiocentrum and Cardiovascular Research Center, Klinik für Kinderkardiologie, Prague, Czech Republic	None	None	Project for Conceptual Development of Research Organization 00064203 (University Hospital Motol, Prague, Czech Republic) (f)	None	None	None
George Klein	University Hospital, London, CANADA	Biotronik (c) St. Jude Medical (b) Bard (b) Medtronic (d) Boston Scientific (b)	None	None	None	None	None
Ian Law	Univ of Iowa Hospital and Clinics, Pediatric Cardiology, Iowa City, IA, USA	None	None	None	None	None	None
Fred Morady	University of Michigan Hospital, Ann Arbor, MI, USA	None	St. Jude (b) Biotronik (b) Boston Scientific (b)	None	None	Medtronic (c)	None
Thomas Paul	Georg-August-Univ Medical Univ Hospital, Pediatric Cardiology, Göttingen, GERMANY	None	None	None	None	None	None
James Perry	UCSD/Rady Children's Hospital, Pediatric Cardiology, San Diego, CA, USA	Medtronic (b)	None	None	None	None	None
Shubhayan Sanatani	Children's Heart Centre, British Columbia, CANADA	None	None	None	None	None	None
Ronn Tanel	UCSF Medical Center; Pediatric Cardiology, San Francisco, CA, USA	St. Jude Medical (b)	None	None	St. Jude Medical (d) Medtronic (c)	None	None
John Triedman	Children's Hospital Boston, Cardiology, Boston, MA, USA	Biosense Webster (b)	None	None	None	None	None

(a) = \$0.

(b) = <\$10,000.

(c) = >\$10,000 to <\$25,000.

(d) = >\$25,000 to <\$50,000.

(e) = >\$50,000 to <\$100,000.

(f) = >\$100,000.

12. Peer Review Disclosures

Peer Review	Employment	Consultant/Advisory Board	Speakers' Bureau/Honoraria	Research Grant	Fellowship Support	Board Mbs/Stock Options/Partner	Others
Richard Campbell Jane Chen	Duke University, Hillsborough, NC, USA Washington University School of Medicine, Saint Louis, MO, USA	None None	None Medtronic (b) St. Jude Medical (b)	None None	None None	None None	None None
John Kugler	UNM C/CU Children's Hospital, Joint Division of Pediatric Cardiology, Omaha, NE, USA	None	None	None	None	None	None
Jeremy Ruskin	Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, MA, USA	CardioFocus, Inc. (a) Abbott (b) Cardiome Pharma/Astellas (b) Genzyme (b) Novartis Pharmaceuticals Corp (b) Bristol Meyers Squibb (c) Pfizer, Inc. (c) Atricure (c) Biosense Webster (b) CardioInsight Technologies (b) Medtronic (c) Sanofi Aventis (b) Third Rock Ventures (c)	None	None	Boston Scientific (d) Medtronic (d) Genzyme (d) Biotronik (d)	Cameron Health (d) Portola Pharmaceuticals (d) Genzyme (f)	None
J. Phillip Saul	Medical University of South Carolina, Charleston, SC, USA	Shire Pharm (b) Astra Zeneca (b)	None	None	None	None	None
Robert Schweikert	Akron General Medical Center, Richfield, OH, USA	Stereotaxis, Inc. (b)	Sanofi-Aventis (b)				
Christopher Snyder	Ochsner for Children, Pediatric Electrophysiology, New Orleas, LA, USA	None	St Jude Medical (b)	None	None	None	None
Elizabeth Stephenson	The Hospital for Sick Children- Cardiology, Toronto, Canada	None	GlaxoSmithKline (b) Medtronic Minimed (b) Johnson & Johnson (b)	Medtronic Minimed (e) Boehringer Ingleheim (e)	None	None	Neurometrix (c)

(a) = \$0.

(b) = <\$10,000.

(c) = >\$10,000 to <\$25,000.

(d) = >\$25,000 to <\$50,000.

(e) = >\$50,000 to <\$100,000.

(f) = >\$100,000.